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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
This management’s discussion and analysis is designed to provide you with a narrative explanation through the eyes of our
management of our financial condition and results of operations. We recommend that you read this in conjunction with our
interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2013, our 2012 annual financial statements and our 2012
annual management’s discussion and analysis. This management’s discussion and analysis is dated as of April 29, 2013.
About Thomson Reuters - We are the leading source of intelligent information for businesses and professionals. We combine
industry expertise with innovative technology to deliver critical information to leading decision-makers. Through approximately
60,000 employees in over 100 countries, we deliver this must-have insight to the financial and risk, legal, tax and accounting,
intellectual property and science and media markets, powered by the world’s most trusted news organization.
We derive the majority of our revenues from selling electronic content and services to professionals, primarily on a
subscription basis. Over the years, this has proven to be capital efficient and cash flow generative, and it has enabled us to
maintain leading and scalable positions in our chosen markets. Within each of the market segments that we serve, we
bring in-depth understanding of our customers’ needs, flexible technology platforms, proprietary content and scale. We
believe our ability to embed our solutions into customers’ workflows is a significant competitive advantage as it leads to
strong customer retention.
Contents - We have organized our management’s discussion and analysis in the following key sections:
•

Overview – a brief discussion of our business;

•

Results of Operations – a comparison of our current and prior period results;

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources – a discussion of our cash flow and debt;

•

Outlook – our current financial outlook for 2013;

•

Related Party Transactions – a discussion of transactions with our principal and controlling shareholder, The
Woodbridge Company Limited (Woodbridge), and others;

•

Subsequent Events – a discussion of material events occurring after March 31, 2013 and through the date of this
management’s discussion and analysis;

•

Changes in Accounting Policies – a discussion of changes in our accounting policies and recent accounting
pronouncements;

•

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments – a discussion of critical estimates and judgments made by our
management in applying accounting policies;

•

Additional Information – other required disclosures; and

•

Appendices – supplemental information and discussion.

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). This management’s discussion and analysis also includes certain
non-IFRS financial measures which we use as supplemental indicators of our operating performance and financial position
and for internal planning purposes.
References in this discussion to “$” and “US$” are to U.S. dollars and references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars. In
addition, “bp” means “basis points” and “na” and “n/m” refer to “not applicable” and “not meaningful”, respectively.
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this discussion to “we,” “our,” “us” and
“Thomson Reuters” are to Thomson Reuters Corporation and our subsidiaries.
Forward-looking statements - This management's discussion and analysis also contains forward-looking statements,
which are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, our expectations regarding:
•

General economic conditions and market trends and their anticipated effects on our business;

•

Our 2013 financial outlook;

•

Investments that we have made and plan to make and the timing for businesses that we expect to sell; and

•

Our liquidity and capital resources available to us to fund our ongoing operations, investments and returns to
shareholders.

For additional information related to forward-looking statements and material risks associated with them, refer to the section
of this management’s discussion and analysis entitled “Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results”.

1

OVERVIEW
KEY HIGHLIGHTS
Our first quarter performance was consistent with our full-year expectations and we are pleased with the positive
trajectory of the business as we begin the year. The external environment continues to be challenging, but we believe
that it has improved compared to a year ago.
In the first quarter of 2013, revenues from ongoing businesses increased 2% before currency(1). This performance
reflected good growth from our Legal, Tax & Accounting and Intellectual Property & Science businesses, which was
partially offset by a decrease in Financial & Risk’s revenues.
•

Financial & Risk’s revenues decreased 1%. While the business continues to make significant progress, we do
not believe that Financial & Risk will achieve revenue improvement in 2013 compared to 2012 due to the
subscription nature of its business and the lag effect of 2012 negative net sales. However, the trend in
Financial & Risk’s net sales performance continues to improve and the business is making tangible progress
reducing its cost structure.

•

Legal’s revenues rose 4% driven by acquisitions. Revenues from existing businesses were unchanged due to
the timing of several contracts and a 2% decrease in print revenues.

•

Tax & Accounting revenues increased 7%, of which 5% was from existing businesses. In particular,
subscription revenues experienced good growth.

•

Intellectual Property & Science revenues increased 13%, of which 4% was from existing businesses.

•

Our Global Growth & Operations (GGO) unit increased revenues by 13%, of which 7% was from existing
businesses. On an annualized basis, GGO comprises about $1 billion of our revenues.

Adjusted EBITDA(1) decreased 2% reflecting $78 million of severance charges, primarily to reduce positions in Financial
(1)
& Risk. Underlying operating profit decreased 7%, primarily due to the severance charges and higher depreciation
(1)
and amortization. Adjusted EPS was $0.38 per share, which represented a $0.01 decrease compared to the prior-year
period. This decrease was primarily attributable to lower underlying operating profit(1) driven by the severance charges,
which was partially offset by lower interest expense and a lower tax rate.
Based on our first quarter performance, we recently reaffirmed our 2013 business outlook that we originally
communicated in February. For 2013, we are targeting low single digit revenue growth(1), underlying operating profit(1)
(1)
(1)
between 16.5% and 17.5%, adjusted EBITDA margin between 26% and 27% and free cash flow between $1.7 billion
and $1.8 billion. Additional information is provided in the “Outlook” section of this management’s discussion and
analysis.
We remain focused on achieving our key priorities for 2013, which are:

(1)

•

Driving for growth organically as well as through tactical acquisitions, including by shifting more of our
revenue mix and investments to higher growth businesses and geographic areas;

•

Focusing on streamlining our costs and increasing free cash flow through improvements to our infrastructure;
and

•

Simplifying our systems and processes across the organization.

Refer to Appendix A for additional information on non-IFRS financial measures.

OUR ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Thomson Reuters is organized as a group of strategic business units: Financial & Risk, Legal, Tax & Accounting and
Intellectual Property & Science, supported by a corporate center. We believe this structure allows us to best meet the
complex demands of our customers, capture growth opportunities and achieve efficiencies. We also operate a Global
Growth & Operations (GGO) organization which works across our business units to identify opportunities in faster growing
geographic areas. We do not report GGO as a separate business unit, but rather include its results within our strategic
business units. Our Reuters News business is managed at our corporate center.
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SEASONALITY
Our revenues and operating profits do not tend to be significantly impacted by seasonality as we record a large portion of
our revenues ratably over a contract term and our costs are generally incurred evenly throughout the year. However, our
non-recurring revenues can cause changes in our performance from quarter to consecutive quarter. Additionally, the
release of certain print-based offerings can be seasonal as can certain product releases for the regulatory markets, which
tend to be concentrated at the end of the year.

USE OF NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
In addition to our results reported in accordance with IFRS, we use certain non-IFRS financial measures as supplemental
indicators of our operating performance and financial position and for internal planning purposes. These non-IFRS
financial measures include:
•

Revenues from ongoing businesses;

•

Revenues at constant currency (before currency or revenues excluding the effects of foreign currency);

•

Underlying operating profit and the related margin;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and the related margin;

•

Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and the related margin;

•

Adjusted earnings and adjusted earnings per share;

•

Net debt;

•

Free cash flow; and

•

Free cash flow from ongoing businesses.

We report non-IFRS financial measures as we believe their use provides more insight into and understanding of our
performance. Refer to Appendix A of this management’s discussion and analysis for a description of our non-IFRS financial
measures, including an explanation of why we believe they are useful measures of our performance, including our ability to
generate cash flow. Refer to the sections of this management’s discussion and analysis entitled “Results of Operations”,
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Appendix B for reconciliations of these non-IFRS financial measures to the most
directly comparable IFRS financial measures.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Within this management’s discussion and analysis, we discuss our results of operations on both an IFRS and non-IFRS basis.
Both bases exclude discontinued operations and include the performance of acquired businesses from the date of purchase.
Prior period amounts have been restated to reflect the retrospective application of amendments to IAS 19, Employee
Benefits and the adoption of IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. See note 2 of our interim financial statements for the three
months ended March 31, 2013 for information regarding changes in accounting policies.
Consolidated results
We discuss our consolidated results from continuing operations on an IFRS basis, as reported in our income statement.
Additionally, we discuss our consolidated results on a non-IFRS basis using the measures described within the “Use of
Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section. Among other adjustments, our non-IFRS revenue and profitability measures as
well as free cash flow from ongoing businesses exclude Other Businesses, which is an aggregation of businesses that have
been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure that did not qualify for discontinued operations classification.
Segment results
We discuss the results of our four reportable segments as presented in our interim financial statements for the three
months ended March 31, 2013: Financial & Risk, Legal, Tax & Accounting and Intellectual Property & Science.
We also provide information on “Corporate & Other” and “Other Businesses”. The items in these categories neither qualify
as a component of another reportable segment nor as a separate reportable segment.
•

Corporate & Other includes expenses for corporate functions, certain share-based compensation costs and the
Reuters News business, which is comprised of the Reuters News Agency and consumer publishing.

•

Other Businesses is an aggregation of businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure
that did not qualify for discontinued operations classification. The results of Other Businesses are not comparable from
period to period as the composition of businesses changes due to the timing of completed divestitures.
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Prior-period amounts have been reclassified to reflect the current presentation. Note 3 of our interim financial statements
for the three months ended March 31, 2013 includes a reconciliation of results from our reportable segments to
consolidated results as reported in our income statement.
In analyzing our revenues from ongoing businesses, at both the consolidated and segment levels, we separately measure
the effect of foreign currency changes. We separately measure both the revenue growth of existing businesses and the
impact of acquired businesses on our revenue growth, on a constant currency basis.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012

(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
IFRS Financial Measures
Revenues
Operating profit
Diluted (loss) earnings per share
Non-IFRS Financial Measures
Revenues from ongoing businesses
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures margin
Underlying operating profit
Underlying operating profit margin
Adjusted earnings per share

Change

3,175
390
($0.04)

3,315
364
$0.35

(4%)
7%
n/m

3,097
757
24.4%
407
13.1%
462
14.9%
$0.38

3,072
772
25.1%
500
16.3%
497
16.2%
$0.39

1%
(2%)
(70)bp
(19%)
(320)bp
(7%)
(130)bp
(3%)

Foreign currency effects. With respect to the average foreign exchange rates that we use to report our results, the U.S. dollar
strengthened against the British pound sterling and the Japanese yen, but weakened against the Euro in the first quarter of
2013 compared to the same period in 2012. Given our currency mix of revenues and expenses around the world, these
fluctuations had a negative impact on our consolidated revenues in U.S. dollars and on our adjusted EBITDA and underlying
operating profit margin.
Revenues.
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues from ongoing businesses
Other Businesses
Revenues

2013
3,097
78
3,175

2012
3,072
243
3,315

Percentage change:
Existing
Acquired Constant Foreign
businesses businesses currency currency
(1%)
3%
2%
(1%)
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m

Total
1%
n/m
(4%)

Revenues from ongoing businesses increased on a constant currency basis led by our Legal, Tax & Accounting and
Intellectual Property & Science segments and the Marketplaces and Governance, Risk & Compliance business units within
our Financial & Risk segment. These increases more than offset a decrease from Financial & Risk’s Trading business.
Acquisitions contributed to revenue growth across all segments.
Our Global Growth & Operations organization is focused on supporting our businesses in the following geographic areas:
Latin America, China, India, the Middle East, Africa, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations/North Asia, Russia and
countries comprising the Commonwealth of Independent States and Turkey. Revenues from these geographic areas
represented approximately 8% of our revenues in the first quarter of 2013 and grew 13% on a constant currency basis (7%
from existing businesses).
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Operating profit, underlying operating profit, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures.

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Operating profit
Adjustments to remove:
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Fair value adjustments
Other operating losses (gains), net
Operating profit from Other Businesses
Underlying operating profit
Remove: depreciation and amortization of computer software (excluding Other
Businesses)
(1)
Adjusted EBITDA
Remove: capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals (excluding Other
Businesses)
Adjusted EDITDA less capital expenditures
Underlying operating profit margin
Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures margin
(1)

Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
390
364

Change
7%

160
(62)
6
(32)
462

152
30
(22)
(27)
497

(7%)

295
757

275
772

(2%)

350
407

272
500

(19%)

14.9%
24.4%
13.1%

16.2%
25.1%
16.3%

(130)bp
(70)bp
(320)bp

See Appendix B for a reconciliation of (loss) earnings from continuing operations to adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA less
capital expenditures.

Operating profit increased due to a significant benefit from fair value adjustments that more than offset higher severance
costs and lower gains from the sales of businesses.
Adjusted EBITDA and the related margin decreased due to higher severance expenses, lower revenues from existing
businesses and the impact of currency, partly offset by lower expenses from reducing our cost structure. The decline in
underlying operating profit was also impacted by higher depreciation and amortization from recent product launches and
acquisitions. We believe that the first quarter was the low water mark for adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit
margins for the year.
The decrease in adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures reflected the same factors as adjusted EBITDA as well as
higher capital expenditures due to the timing of payments related to a large multi-year software contract.
Excluding severance charges for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 of $78 million and $28 million, respectively,
adjusted EBITDA in the first quarter of 2013 grew 4% and the related margin expanded 100bp, underlying operating profit
grew 3% and the related margin expanded 30bp.
Operating expenses.

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Operating expenses
Adjustments to remove:
Fair value adjustments(1)
Other Businesses
Operating expenses, excluding fair value adjustments and Other Businesses
(1)

Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
2,324
2,540
62
(46)
2,340

(30)
(210)
2,300

Change
(9%)

2%

Fair value adjustments primarily represent non-cash accounting adjustments from the revaluation of embedded foreign exchange
derivatives within certain customer contracts due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and mark-to-market adjustments from
certain share-based awards.

Operating expenses, excluding fair value adjustments and Other Businesses, increased primarily due to higher severance
charges and expenses from newly acquired businesses. In the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, operating
expenses included $78 million and $28 million of severance charges, respectively. In 2013, the charges related primarily to
our previously announced intention to reduce Financial & Risk’s workforce. We expect to incur about $100 million in
severance charges for the full year 2013. The increase in operating expenses was partly offset by lower expenses from
reducing our cost structure.
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Depreciation and amortization.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
107
109
188
172
295
281
160
152

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Depreciation
Amortization of computer software
Subtotal
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets

Change
(2%)
9%
5%
5%

•

Depreciation and amortization of computer software on a combined basis increased reflecting investments in
products such as Thomson Reuters Eikon and amortization of assets from recently acquired businesses.

•

Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets increased due to amortization from newly-acquired assets,
which more than offset decreases from the completion of amortization for certain identifiable intangible assets
acquired in previous years.

Other operating (losses) gains, net.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
(6)
22

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Other operating (losses) gains, net

In the three months ended March 31, 2013, other operating losses, net, were primarily comprised of transaction-related
charges associated with business acquisitions and divestitures, partially offset by a gain from the sale of the Law School
Publishing business. The prior-year period was primarily comprised of a gain from the sale of the Trade and Risk
Management business, partially offset by transaction-related charges associated with business acquisitions and
divestitures.
Net interest expense.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
115
129

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Net interest expense

Change
(11%)

The decrease in net interest expense was primarily attributable to a reduction of interest associated with certain tax
liabilities. Because over 90% of our long-term debt obligations pay interest at fixed rates (after swaps) and because our
long-term debt remained relatively constant, the balance of interest expense was relatively unchanged.
Other finance (costs) income.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
(55)
30

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Other finance (costs) income

In both periods, other finance (costs) income primarily included losses or gains realized from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on certain intercompany funding arrangements, but also included gains from freestanding derivative
instruments.
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
10
3

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments

In both periods, our share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments primarily included our joint arrangements
with Omgeo, a provider of trade management services. The three months ended March, 31, 2012 included losses from
other equity method investments.
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Tax (expense) benefit.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
(247)
40

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Tax (expense) benefit

The comparability of our tax (expense) benefit was impacted by various transactions and accounting adjustments during
both periods. Additionally, the tax (expense) benefit in each period reflected the mix of taxing jurisdictions in which pre-tax
profits and losses were recognized. Because the geographical mix of pre-tax profits and losses in interim periods distorts
the reported effective tax rate, tax expense or benefit in interim periods is not necessarily indicative of tax expense for the
full year.
In the three months ended March 31, 2013, we recorded a $235 million tax charge in conjunction with the further
consolidation of the ownership and management of our technology and content assets. This tax is expected to be paid over
the next seven years, in varying annual amounts. The following table sets forth significant components within our income
tax (expense) benefit that impact comparability from period to period.
(Expense) benefit

Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Discrete tax items:
Consolidation of technology and content assets(1)
Corporate tax rates(2)
Uncertain tax positions
Other(3)
Subtotal
Tax related to:
Sale of businesses(4)
Healthcare(5)
Operating profit of Other Businesses
Fair value adjustments
Other items
Subtotal
Total

(235)
1
2
11
(221)

14
4
8
26

(8)
(8)
(9)
3
(22)

(33)
87
(7)
8
55

(243)

81

(1)

Relates to the further consolidation of the ownership and management of our technology and content assets.

(2)

In 2012, relates to the reduction of deferred tax liabilities due to lower corporate tax rates that were substantively enacted in certain
jurisdictions outside the U.S.

(3)

Primarily relates to the recognition of deferred tax benefits in connection with acquisitions and disposals.

(4)

In 2012, primarily relates to the sale of our Trade and Risk Management business.

(5)

Relates to the recognition of a deferred tax asset in connection with the sale of our Healthcare business in the second quarter of
2012.

Because the items described above impact the comparability of our tax expense each period, we remove them from our
calculation of adjusted earnings, along with the pre-tax items to which they relate. Accordingly, in our calculation of adjusted
earnings, we have removed the impact of the $235 million tax charge associated with the consolidation of technology and
content assets. However, we have included a tax charge equivalent to amortizing the $235 million charge on a
straight-line basis over the seven-year period in which the tax liability is expected to be paid. We believe this treatment
more appropriately reflects our tax position because the tax charge is an actual tax expense that we will have to pay over
the next seven years, in varying annual amounts. While we anticipate this transaction will be relatively neutral on a net
cash tax basis over the near term, we expect that this transaction will produce ongoing tax benefits to more than offset the
tax cost. After removing the items noted above, which impact comparability, and increasing tax expense by $7 million for
quarterly tax rate normalization (2012 - $6 million decrease) and $8 million for the amortization of the tax charge
associated with the consolidation of technology and content assets, our tax expense on adjusted earnings for the three
months ended March 31, 2013 was $19 million (2012 - $35 million). During 2013, we expect to record additional tax charges of
approximately $170 million in conjunction with the further consolidation of technology and content assets.
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Net (loss) earnings and (loss) earnings per share.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
(17)
306
($0.04)
$0.35

(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
Net (loss) earnings
Diluted (loss) earnings per share

Net (loss) earnings and the related per share amounts decreased primarily due to higher tax expense associated with the
further consolidation of the ownership and management of our technology and content assets.
Adjusted earnings and adjusted earnings per share.
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts and share data)
(Loss) earnings attributable to common shareholders
Adjustments to remove:
Operating profit from Other Businesses
Fair value adjustments
Other operating losses (gains), net
Other finance costs (income)
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments
Tax on above items
Discrete tax items(1)
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Discontinued operations
Interim period effective tax rate normalization
Tax charge amortization(2)
Dividends declared on preference shares
Adjusted earnings
Adjusted earnings per share (adjusted EPS)
(3)
Diluted weighted average common shares (millions)

2013
(31)

2012
294

(32)
(62)
6
55
(10)
22
221
160
(7)
(8)
(1)
313
$0.38
830.4

(27)
30
(22)
(30)
(3)
(55)
(26)
152
2
6
(1)
320
$0.39
830.3

Change
n/m

(2%)
(3%)

(1)

Refer to “Tax (expense) benefit”.

(2)

Reflects amortization of tax charge associated with consolidation of technology and content assets. Refer to “Tax (expense) benefit”.

(3)

Refer to Appendix B for reconciliation of diluted weighted average common shares at March 31, 2013.

Adjusted earnings and the related per share amount decreased due to lower underlying operating profit, driven by the
severance charge, partly offset by lower interest and taxes. Adjusted earnings per share in the three months ended March
31, 2013 included an $0.08 impact from the severance charge. Adjusted earnings per share reflected a negative impact
from foreign currency of $0.03 compared to the prior year.

SEGMENT RESULTS
A discussion of the operating results of each of our reportable segments follows. Results from the Reuters News business and
Other Businesses are excluded from our reportable segments as they do not qualify as a component of our four reportable
segments, nor as a separate reportable segment. We use segment operating profit to measure the performance of our
reportable segments. Our definition of segment operating profit as reflected below may not be comparable to that of other
companies. We define segment operating profit as operating profit before (i) amortization of other identifiable intangible
assets; (ii) other operating gains and losses; (iii) certain asset impairment charges; and (iv) corporate-related items (including
corporate expense and fair value adjustments). We use this measure because we do not consider these excluded items to be
controllable operating activities for purposes of assessing the current performance of our reportable segments. We also use
segment operating profit margin, which we define as segment operating profit as a percentage of revenues. As a
supplemental measure of segment performance, we add back depreciation and amortization of computer software to
segment operating profit to arrive at each segment’s EBITDA and the related margin as a percentage of revenues. Refer to
Appendix B for additional information.
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Financial & Risk
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Trading
Investors
Marketplaces
Governance, Risk & Compliance (GRC)
Revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA margin
Segment operating profit
Segment operating profit margin

2013
630
534
456
55
1,675
360
21.5%
200
11.9%

2012
678
542
442
51
1,713
423
24.7%
270
15.8%

Percentage change:
Existing Acquired Constant Foreign
businesses businesses currency currency
(6%)
(6%)
(1%)
(1%)
1%
(1%)
(2%)
6%
4%
(1%)
6%
2%
8%
(3%)
2%
(1%)
(1%)

Total
(7%)
(1%)
3%
8%
(2%)
(15%)
(320)bp
(26%)
(390)bp

Revenues declined on a constant currency basis as growth from acquired businesses was more than offset by a decline in
revenues from existing businesses, which reflected the lag effect of negative net sales from 2012. The decline in Trading was
partially offset by growth in Marketplaces and GRC. The Investors business was essentially unchanged from the prior year.
Although net sales were negative for the first quarter ended March 31, 2013, the performance represented an improvement
over the prior-year period, as well as from the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2012. Accordingly, we continue to target
to achieve positive net sales in the second half of the year.
Results by revenue type were:
•

First Quarter 2013 Revenues

Subscription revenues declined 3%, reflecting the impact of negative
net sales in 2012. At the end of the first quarter, Thomson Reuters
Eikon desktop users grew to nearly 47,000, which represented close to
a 40% increase from year-end.

•

Recoveries revenues (low-margin revenues that we collect and
largely pass-through to a third party provider, such as stock exchange
fees) decreased 4% as a result of declines in desktops as well as third
party providers continuing to move to direct billing of customers.

•

Transaction revenues increased 17%, driven by the 2012 acquisition
of FXall. Revenues grew 2% from existing businesses and included
higher volumes at Tradeweb.

•

Outright revenues, which are primarily discrete sales of software and
services, represented a small portion of Financial & Risk’s revenues
and increased 4%.

1%
11%
11%

77%

Subscription
Transaction

Recoveries
Outright

By geographic area, revenues from Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) decreased 3%, Americas increased 2% and Asia
decreased 2%, reflecting declines in Japan and Australia.
The following provides additional information regarding Financial & Risk businesses on a constant currency basis:
•

Trading revenues decreased 6%, all from existing businesses, as growth from Data Feeds and Elektron Managed
Services was more than offset by desktop cancellations in Equities and Fixed Income associated with negative
net sales in 2012 and continued weakness in Europe.

•

Investors revenues were essentially unchanged from the prior year as a 6% increase in Enterprise Content, driven
by demand for pricing and reference data, was offset by a 3% decline in both the Investment Management, and
Banking and Research businesses. Wealth Management revenues were unchanged.

•

Marketplaces revenues increased 4% due to the 2012 acquisition of FXall. Revenues from existing businesses
decreased 2% due to declines in FX desktops. Tradeweb grew 1% reflecting difficult prior year comparables.

•

GRC revenues increased 8% driven by demand for financial crime and reputational risk solutions.

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related margins were adversely impacted by lower revenues and a $65 million
severance charge to streamline our cost structure. Excluding severance, EBITDA decreased 1% and the related margin
increased 40bp from the prior year, while segment operating profit declined 4% and the related margin declined 30bp.
Foreign currency reduced EBITDA and segment operating profit margins by approximately 100bp. The decline in segment
operating profit and the related margin reflected higher depreciation and amortization from new product investments, and
software amortization from acquired businesses.
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Legal
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA margin
Segment operating profit
Segment operating profit margin

2013
794
276
34.8%
201
25.3%

Percentage change:
Existing Acquired Constant Foreign
2012 businesses businesses currency currency
771
4%
4%
(1%)
270
35.0%
201
26.1%

Total
3%
2%
(20)bp
(80)bp

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis reflecting contributions from acquired businesses. Revenues from
existing businesses were unchanged, largely due to timing issues within our software and services businesses and a 2%
decline in print revenues. We expect revenue growth to improve throughout the balance of the year.
First Quarter 2013 Revenues

Results by revenue type were:
•

•

•

Subscription revenues increased 7%, led by growth
from the acquisition of Practical Law Company (PLC)
and 3% growth from existing businesses;

16%

Transaction revenues declined 7% which reflected a
9% decline from existing businesses largely
attributable to the timing of software and services
revenues, primarily from our Elite, Pangea3, and Latin
American businesses; and

14%
70%

U.S. print revenues declined 2% as customers
continued to control discretionary spending.
Subscription

Transaction

U.S. print

The following chart illustrates the growth dynamics and changing business mix in the Legal segment:
First Quarter 2013 Legal Revenues
4% constant currency revenue growth
(billions of U.S. dollars)

Results by line of business were:
•

•

•

U.S. Law Firm Solutions revenues (55% of segment
revenues) declined 1% as growth in Business of Law
revenues, led by 9% growth in FindLaw, was more
than offset by a decline in research related revenues;
Corporate, Government & Academic revenues (25%
of segment revenues) increased 4% with Corporate
up 5% and Government up 3%; and
Global (20% of segment revenues) businesses
revenues increased 17% primarily from the
acquisition of PLC. Revenues from existing
businesses grew 1%, reflecting timing within several
Latin American businesses due to our focus on
integrating our recent acquisitions.

U.S. Law Firm
Solutions
-1% growth

Global
Businesses

$0.2

17% growth

Corporate,
Government,
& Academic
4% growth

$0.3 Core Legal
Research
-3% growth

$0.2
$0.1
Business of Law
6% growth

The decline in EBITDA and segment operating profit margins were driven by the expected dilutive impact of the PLC
acquisition. For the full year, we expect the PLC acquisition to negatively impact Legal’s EBITDA and segment operating
profit margins by a little over 100 basis points.
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Tax & Accounting
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA margin
Segment operating profit
Segment operating profit margin

2013
317
98
30.9%
69
21.8%

Percentage change:
Existing Acquired Constant Foreign
2012 businesses businesses currency currency
299
5%
2%
7%
(1%)
91
30.4%
63
21.1%

Total
6%
8%
50bp
10%
70bp

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis reflecting contributions from both existing and acquired businesses.
The revenue growth reflected the strength of our product offerings and healthy conditions prevailing in the global tax and
accounting market. Subscription revenues, which comprise approximately 65% of our Tax & Accounting business,
increased 11%. This was partly offset by a decline in Government revenues, which continues to face headwinds.
Results by line of business were:

First Quarter 2013 Revenues

•

Professional revenues from small, medium and large accounting
firms increased 6% (5% from existing businesses);

•

Knowledge Solutions revenues increased 7% (5% from existing
businesses) primarily from growth in our U.S. Checkpoint business;

•

Corporate revenues increased 14% (10% from existing businesses)
primarily from ONESOURCE software and services and strong
growth in solutions revenues in Latin America; and

•

Government revenues decreased 29%, all from existing
businesses. We expect continued weakness in the government
sector during 2013.

4%
32%
36%

28%
Professional
Knowledge Solutions
Corporate
Government

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related margins increased due to higher revenues.
Tax & Accounting is a seasonal business with a significant percentage of its operating profit historically generated in the
fourth quarter. Small movements in the timing of revenues and expenses can impact quarterly margins. Full-year margins
are more reflective of the segment’s performance.

Intellectual Property & Science
Three months ended
March 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA margin
Segment operating profit
Segment operating profit margin

2013
233
70
30.0%
51
21.9%

Percentage change:
Existing Acquired Constant Foreign
2012 businesses businesses currency currency
209
4%
9%
13%
(2%)
72
34.4%
55
26.3%

Total
11%
(3%)
(440)bp
(7%)
(440)bp

Revenues increased on a constant currency basis reflecting contributions from existing businesses and the 2012
acquisition of MarkMonitor. Subscription revenues, which represent approximately 75% of Intellectual Property & Science’s
business, increased 18% (5% from existing businesses). Transaction revenues were unchanged as lower trademark search
revenues and the timing of discrete sales for our Web of Knowledge and Web of Science products were offset by higher
professional services.
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Results by line of business were:
•

•

•

First Quarter 2013 Revenues

IP Solutions grew 22%, reflecting the acquisition of
MarkMonitor. Revenue grew 3% from existing businesses as
growth in Asset Management was partly offset by lower
transactional revenues;
Scientific & Scholarly Research increased 5% from existing
business led by the Web of Knowledge as higher subscription
revenues were partly offset by lower transactional revenues
due to timing; and

16%

53%
31%

Life Sciences revenues increased 2% from existing businesses
reflecting higher professional services revenues.
Intellectual Property Solutions
Scientific & Scholarly Research
Life Sciences

EBITDA, segment operating profit and the related margins decreased largely from the expected dilutive effect of the
MarkMonitor acquisition and severance charges in the three months ended March 31, 2013.
Small movements in the timing of revenues and expenses can impact quarterly margins. Full-year margins are more
reflective of the segment’s performance.

Corporate & Other
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
81
82

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues - Reuters News
Reuters News
Core corporate expenses
Total

(4)
(55)
(59)

(4 )
(88)
(92)

Revenues from our Reuters News business were essentially unchanged as an increase in Agency revenues, led by growth in
the Americas, was offset by lower advertising-based revenues and unfavorable foreign currency. Before currency, revenues
from our Reuters News business increased 1%.
Lower core corporate expenses primarily reflected a reduction in severance costs. For the full year 2013, we expect
Corporate & Other costs to be roughly in line with the previous year.

Other Businesses
“Other Businesses” is an aggregation of businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure
that did not qualify for discontinued operations classification. The results of Other Businesses are not comparable from
period to period, as the composition of businesses changes as businesses are identified for sale or closure. Further
fluctuations are caused by the timing of the sales or closures.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
78
243
32
27

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
Operating profit
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The most significant businesses in Other Businesses for the periods presented were:
Business
Corporate
(1)
Services
Healthcare

Status
Former segment
Held for sale (binding Financial & Risk
offer accepted)
Sold – Q2 2012
Healthcare &
Science

Trade and Risk
Management
Portia
Property Tax
Consulting

Sold – Q1 2012

Financial & Risk

Sold – Q2 2012
Sold – Q4 2012

Financial & Risk
Tax & Accounting

(1)

Description
A provider of tools and solutions that help companies
communicate with investors and media
A provider of data analytics and performance benchmarking
solutions and services to companies, government agencies
and healthcare professionals
A provider of risk management solutions to financial
institutions, including banks, broker-dealers and hedge funds
A provider of portfolio accounting and reporting applications
A provider of property tax outsourcing and compliance services
in the U.S.

Comprised of the Investor Relations, Public Relations and Multimedia Solutions businesses.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
At March 31, 2013, we had a strong liquidity position with:
•

approximately $0.4 billion of cash on hand;

•

an undrawn $2.0 billion syndicated credit facility;

•

a commercial paper program under which we issue short-term notes; and

•

average long-term debt maturity of approximately seven years with no significant concentration in any one year.

We expect to generate between $1.7 billion and $1.8 billion of free cash flow in 2013. See “Outlook” for additional information.
We believe that cash on hand, cash provided by our operations, borrowings available under our credit facility, and our
commercial paper program will be sufficient to fund our expected cash dividends, debt service, capital expenditures,
acquisitions in the normal course of business and any opportunistic share repurchases in 2013. Additionally, proceeds from
the anticipated closing of our Corporate Services business and several smaller divestitures will provide liquidity in 2013.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Our total assets were $32.0 billion at March 31, 2013 compared to $32.5 billion at December 31, 2012. The decrease was
due to changes in foreign currency and depreciation and amortization, partly offset by capital expenditures.
Additional information. At March 31, 2013, the carrying amounts of our total current liabilities exceeded the carrying
amounts of our total current assets principally because current liabilities include deferred revenue. Deferred revenue does
not represent a cash obligation, but rather an obligation to perform services or deliver products in the future. The costs to
fulfill these obligations are included in our operating expenses.

Net Debt (1)

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Current indebtedness
Long-term indebtedness
Total debt
Swaps
Total debt after swaps
Remove fair value adjustments for hedges
Total debt after hedging arrangements
Remove transaction costs and discounts included in the carrying value of debt
(2)
Less: cash and cash equivalents
Net debt

As at
March 31, December 31,
2013
2012
1,340
1,008
6,170
6,223
7,510
7,231
(207)
(242)
7,303
6,989
(34)
(54)
7,269
6,935
48
50
(423)
(1,283)
6,894
5,702

(1)

Net debt is a non-IFRS financial measure, which we define in Appendix A.

(2)

Includes cash of $141 million and $148 million at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, which is subject to certain
contractual and regulatory restrictions.
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The increase in our net debt was primarily due to cash used for acquisitions.
The maturity dates for our long-term debt are well balanced with no significant concentration in any one year. Our only
scheduled maturities of long-term debt in 2013 are $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of notes that will be due in the
third quarter. At March 31, 2013, the average maturity of our long-term debt was approximately seven years at an average
interest rate (after swaps) of less than 6%. Our commercial paper program also provides efficient and flexible short-term
funding to balance the timing of completed acquisitions, expected disposal proceeds, dividend payments and debt
repayments. At March 31, 2013, the average interest rate for our outstanding commercial paper borrowings was under
0.5%.
Our cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2013 decreased $860 million compared to the total as of December 31,
2012. See “Cash Flow” for additional information.
Additional information.
•

We monitor the financial strength of financial institutions with which we have banking and other commercial
relationships, including those that hold our cash and cash equivalents as well as those which are counterparties
to derivative financial instruments and other arrangements;

•

We expect to continue to have access to funds held by our subsidiaries outside the U.S. in a tax efficient manner
to meet our liquidity requirements; and

•

We have issued $350 million principal amount of debt securities under our $3.0 billion debt shelf prospectus,
which expires in May 2013. None of these debt securities were issued in 2013 or 2012. We expect to file a new
debt shelf prospectus in connection with the expiration of our current prospectus.

Total Equity
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Balance at December 31, 2012
Net loss
Share issuances
Effect of share-based compensation plans on contributed surplus
Dividends declared on common shares
Dividends declared on preference shares
Change in unrecognized net loss on cash flow hedges
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment
Net remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension plans, net of tax
Distributions to non-controlling interests
Balance at March 31, 2013

17,498
(17)
62
(31)
(269)
(1)
14
(253)
79
(4)
17,078

We returned approximately $0.3 billion to our shareholders through dividends in the three months ended March 31, 2013.

CASH FLOW
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash provided by our operations, our commercial paper program, and
our credit facility. In 2013, proceeds from the disposals of businesses are also a source of liquidity. From time to time, we
also issue debt securities. Our principal uses of cash are for debt servicing costs, debt repayments, dividend payments,
capital expenditures and acquisitions. Additionally, we have occasionally used cash to repurchase outstanding shares in
open market transactions, though we have not repurchased any shares in 2013.

Summary of Statement of Cash Flow
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
116
267
(1,046)
185
81
(409)
(11)
4
(860)
47
1,283
404
423
451

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
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$ Change
(151)
(1,231)
490
(15)
(907)
879
(28)

Operating activities. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities reflected unfavorable working capital movements
and the elimination of operating cash flows from Other Businesses, partly offset by lower interest and tax payments, all of which
were due to timing. Operating cash flows from Other Businesses were impacted by timing of divestitures.
Investing activities. The increase in net cash used in investing activities reflected higher spending on acquisitions and timing of
capital expenditures, which included payments related to a large multi-year software contract. Additionally, the first quarter of
2012 included proceeds from the sale of our Trade and Risk Management business. Our acquisition spending in the first quarter
of 2013 was principally for PLC, a provider of practical legal know-how, current awareness and workflow solutions within the
Legal segment. Capital expenditures in both periods were primarily directed at product and infrastructure technology.
Financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities in the first quarter of 2013 was principally attributable to
commercial paper borrowings. Net cash used in financing activities in the first quarter of 2012 reflected repayments of
commercial paper. In both years, we continued to return cash to our shareholders primarily through dividends. Additional
information about our debt, dividends and share repurchases is as follows:
•

Commercial paper program. Our $2.0 billion commercial paper program provides efficient and flexible short-term
funding to balance the timing of completed acquisitions, expected disposal proceeds, dividend payments and debt
repayments. We had commercial paper borrowings of $0.3 billion outstanding at March 31, 2013.

•

Credit facility. We have a $2.0 billion unsecured syndicated credit facility that expires in August 2016 which we
may utilize from time to time to provide liquidity in connection with our commercial paper program and for
general corporate purposes. In the first quarter of 2013, we borrowed and repaid $440 million. There were no
outstanding borrowings at March 31, 2013.
Based on our current credit ratings, the cost of borrowing under the agreement is priced at LIBOR/EURIBOR plus
90 basis points. If our long-term debt rating were downgraded by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s, our facility fee
and borrowing costs may increase, although availability would be unaffected. Conversely, an upgrade in our
ratings may reduce our facility fees and borrowing costs. We monitor the lenders that are party to our facility and
believe they continue to be able to lend to us.
We may request an extension of the maturity date under certain circumstances for up to two additional one-year
periods, which the applicable lenders may accept or decline in their sole discretion. We may also request an increase,
subject to approval by applicable lenders, in the lenders’ commitments up to a maximum amount of $2.5 billion.
We guarantee borrowings by our subsidiaries under the credit facility. We must also maintain a ratio of net debt
as of the last day of each fiscal quarter to EBITDA (earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization and other modifications described in the credit agreement) for the last four quarters ended of not
more than 4.5:1. We were in compliance with this covenant at March 31, 2013.

•

Credit ratings. Our access to financing depends on, among other things, suitable market conditions and the
maintenance of suitable long-term credit ratings. Our credit ratings may be adversely affected by various factors,
including increased debt levels, decreased earnings, declines in customer demand, increased competition, a
further deterioration in general economic and business conditions and adverse publicity. Any downgrades in our
credit ratings may impede our access to the debt markets or raise our borrowing rates.
The following table sets forth the credit ratings that we have received from rating agencies in respect of our
outstanding securities as of the date of this management's discussion and analysis:

Long-term debt
Commercial paper
Trend/Outlook

Moody’s
Baa1
Stable

Standard & Poor’s
AA-1 (low)
Negative

DBRS Limited
A (low)
R-1 (low)
Stable

Fitch
AF2
Stable

We are not aware of any changes to our credit ratings being contemplated by rating agencies.
These credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell securities and do not address the market
price or suitability of a specific security for a particular investor. Credit ratings may not reflect the potential
impact of all risks on the value of securities. We cannot assure you that our credit ratings will not be lowered in
the future or that rating agencies will not issue adverse commentaries regarding our securities.
•

Dividends. Dividends paid on our common shares were as follows for the periods presented:
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
269
265
(10)
(9)
259
256

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Dividends declared
Dividends reinvested
Dividends paid
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In February 2013, our board of directors approved a $0.02 per share increase in the annualized dividend rate to
$1.30 per common share.
•

Share repurchases. We may buy back shares (and subsequently cancel them) from time to time as part of our
capital management strategy. Under our normal course issuer bid (NCIB), up to 15 million common shares
(representing less than 2% of our total outstanding shares) may be repurchased in open market transactions on
the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) or the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) between May 22, 2012 and May 21,
2013.
We did not repurchase any shares in the first quarter of 2013. In 2012, we repurchased 4,332,200 shares under
the current NCIB. Decisions regarding any future repurchases will be based on market conditions, share price
and other factors including opportunities to invest capital for growth.

Free cash flow and free cash flow from ongoing businesses.
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
116
267
(350)
(280)
4
10
(1)
(1)
(231)
(4)
7
(54)
(224)
(58)

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals
Other investing activities
Dividends paid on preference shares
Free cash flow
Remove: Other Businesses
Free cash flow from ongoing businesses

Free cash flow and free cash flow from ongoing operations are historically lowest in the first quarter of the year and are not
indicative of our full year expectations of $1.7 billion to $1.8 billion. The decreases in the first quarter of 2013 reflected
lower cash from operating activities and higher capital spending for product and infrastructure technology. Free cash flow
includes the impact of the elimination of operating cash flows from Other Businesses due to the timing of divestitures.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL
OBLIGATIONS
For a summary of our other off-balance sheet arrangements, commitments and contractual obligations please see our 2012
annual management’s discussion and analysis. There were no material changes to these arrangements, commitments and
contractual obligations outside the ordinary course of business during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

CONTINGENCIES
Lawsuits and Legal Claims
We are engaged in various legal proceedings, claims, audits and investigations that have arisen in the ordinary course of
business. These matters include, but are not limited to, intellectual property infringement claims, employment matters
and commercial matters. The outcome of all of the matters against us is subject to future resolution, including the
uncertainties of litigation. Based on information currently known to us and after consultation with outside legal counsel,
management believes that the probable ultimate resolution of any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition taken as a whole.

Uncertain Tax Positions
We are subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions. There are many transactions and calculations during the course of
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We maintain provisions for uncertain tax positions that we
believe appropriately reflect our risk. These provisions are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid
based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. We review the adequacy of these provisions at the end of the
reporting period. It is possible that at some future date, liabilities in excess of our provisions could result from audits by, or
litigation with, relevant taxing authorities. Management believes that such additional liabilities would not have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition taken as a whole.

16

OUTLOOK
The information in this section is forward-looking and should be read in conjunction with the section below entitled
“Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results”.
We recently reaffirmed our business outlook for 2013 that was first communicated in February.
The following table sets forth our current 2013 financial outlook, the material assumptions related to our financial outlook
and the material risks that may cause actual performance to differ materially from our current expectations.
Our 2013 outlook for revenues, adjusted EBITDA and underlying operating profit excludes the impact of foreign currency
and previously announced businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure. In addition, our
2013 outlook should be reviewed in connection with Appendix C (“Supplemental Financial Information”), which contains
our revised 2012 full year results, and reflects the retrospective application of the amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits
and the adoption of IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements.
2013 Outlook
Revenues expected to grow
low single digits



Material assumptions
Improvement in net sales as the year
progresses



Positive gross domestic product (GDP)
growth in the countries where we operate,
led by rapidly developing economies



Continued increase in the number of
professionals around the world and their
demand for high quality information and
services



Continued operational improvement in the
Financial & Risk business and the
successful execution of ongoing product
release programs, our globalization
strategy and other growth initiatives

Material risks
 Uneven economic growth or
recession across the markets
we serve may result in reduced
spending levels by our
customers
 Demand for our products and
services could be reduced by
changes in customer buying
patterns, competitive pressures
or our inability to execute on
key product or customer
support initiatives
 Implementation of regulatory
reform, including Dodd-Frank
legislation and similar financial
services laws around the world,
may limit business
opportunities for our customers,
lowering their demand for our
products and services
 Uncertainty regarding the
European sovereign debt crisis
and the Euro currency could
impact demand from our
customers as well as their
ability to pay us
 Pressure on our customers, in
developed markets in
particular, to constrain the
number of professionals
employed due to regulatory and
economic uncertainty
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2013 Outlook
Adjusted EBITDA margin
expected to be between 26%
and 27%

Material assumptions
Revenues expected to grow low single
digits

Material risks
 Refer to the risks above related
to the revenue outlook



Business mix continues to shift to
higher-growth lower margin offerings



Realization of expected benefits from cost
control and efficiency initiatives, specifically
in our Financial & Risk business relative to
reductions in workforce, platform
consolidation and operational simplification

 Revenues from higher margin
businesses may be lower than
expected



 The costs of required
investments exceed
expectations or actual returns
are below expectations
•

Acquisition and disposal activity
may dilute margins

•

Underlying operating profit
margin expected to be
between 16.5% and 17.5%

Free cash flow is expected to
be between $1.7 billion and
$1.8 billion



Adjusted EBITDA margin expected to be
between 26% and 27%



Depreciation and amortization expense
expected to represent approximately 9.5%
of revenues



Capital expenditures expected to be
approximately 8% of revenues
Revenues expected to grow low single
digits




Adjusted EBITDA margin expected to be
between 26% and 27%



Capital expenditures expected to be
approximately 8% of revenues

Cost control initiatives may cost
more than expected, be delayed
or may not produce the expected
level of savings
 Refer to the risks above related
to adjusted EBITDA margin
outlook
 Capital expenditures may be
higher than currently expected,
resulting in higher in-period
depreciation and amortization
 Refer to the risks above related
to the revenue outlook and
adjusted EBITDA margin
outlook
 A weaker macroeconomic
environment and unanticipated
disruptions from new
order-to-cash applications
could negatively impact
working capital performance
 Capital expenditures may be
higher than currently expected
resulting in higher cash
outflows
 The timing of completing
disposals of businesses may
vary from our expectations
resulting in actual free cash
flow performance below our
expectations
•

The timing and amount of tax
payments to governments may
differ from our expectations.

•

We may decide to make a
voluntary contribution to our
defined benefit plans

Additionally, in 2013, we expect interest expense to be $470 million to $490 million, assuming no significant change in our
level of indebtedness and inclusive of non-cash pension related interest charges of $60 million to $70 million, relating to a
new accounting pronouncement. We expect our 2013 effective tax rate (as a percentage of post-amortization adjusted
earnings) will be between 11% to 13%, assuming no material changes in current tax laws or treaties to which we are subject.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As of April 29, 2013, Woodbridge beneficially owned approximately 55% of our shares.

TRANSACTIONS WITH WOODBRIDGE
From time to time, in the normal course of business, we enter into transactions with Woodbridge and certain of its
affiliates. These transactions involve providing and receiving product and service offerings, are negotiated at arm’s length
on standard terms, including price, and are not significant to our results of operations or financial condition either
individually or in the aggregate.
In May 2012, as part of our efforts to expand our mutual fund data and strategic research capabilities, we acquired a Canadian
mutual fund database, fund fact sheet business and mutual fund and equity data feed business for approximately C$9
million from The Globe and Mail (The Globe), which is majority owned by Woodbridge. We paid approximately C$8 million
in cash and issued a C$1 million promissory note to The Globe that will be due in May 2016. In connection with the
acquisition, we licensed the acquired database to The Globe over a four year term, valued at approximately C$250,000
per year. The Globe issued four promissory notes to us, each for the value of the annual license. Amounts due each year
under the notes issued by The Globe will be offset against the note issued by us. Our board of directors’ Corporate
Governance Committee approved the transaction.
In the normal course of business, certain of our subsidiaries charge a Woodbridge owned company fees for various
administrative services. In 2012, the total amount charged to Woodbridge for these services was approximately $112,000.
We purchase property and casualty insurance from third party insurers and retain the first $500,000 of each and every
claim under the programs via our captive insurance subsidiaries. Woodbridge is included in these programs and pays us a
premium commensurate with its exposures. Premiums relating to 2012 were $40,000, which would approximate the
premium charged by a third party insurer for such coverage.
We maintained an agreement with Woodbridge until April 17, 2008 (the closing date of the Reuters acquisition) under
which Woodbridge agreed to indemnify up to $100 million of liabilities incurred either by our current and former directors
and officers or by our company in providing indemnification to these individuals on substantially the same terms and
conditions as would apply under an arm’s length, commercial arrangement. We were required to pay Woodbridge an
annual fee of $750,000, which was less than the premium that would have been paid for commercial insurance. In 2008,
we replaced this agreement with a conventional insurance agreement. We are entitled to seek indemnification from
Woodbridge for any claims arising from events prior to April 17, 2008, so long as the claims are made before April 17, 2014.

TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
From time to time, we enter into transactions with our investments in associates and joint ventures. These transactions
typically involve providing or receiving services and are entered into in the normal course of business and on an arm’s
length basis.
We and The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC) each have a 50% interest in Omgeo, a provider of trade
management services. Omgeo pays us for use of a facility and technology and other services which were valued at
approximately $2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
We and Shin Nippon Hoki Shuppan K.K. each own 50% of Westlaw Japan K.K., a provider of legal information and
solutions to the Japanese legal market. We provide the joint venture with technology and other services, which were valued
at approximately $200,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
In connection with the 2008 acquisition of Reuters, we assumed a lease agreement with 3XSQ Associates, an entity now
owned by Thomson Reuters and Rudin Times Square Associates LLC that was formed to build and operate the 3 Times
Square property and building in New York, New York that now serves as our corporate headquarters. We follow the equity
method of accounting for our investment in 3XSQ Associates. The lease provides us with over 690,000 square feet of office
space until 2021 and includes provisions to terminate portions early and various renewal options. Our costs under this
lease arrangement for rent, taxes and other expenses were approximately $10 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2013.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no material events occurring after March 31, 2013 through the date of this management’s discussion and
analysis.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Please refer to the “Changes in Accounting Policies” section of our 2012 annual management’s discussion and analysis,
which is contained in our 2012 annual report, as well as note 2 of our interim financial statements for the three months
ended March 31, 2013, for information regarding changes in accounting policies.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments about the future.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Please refer to the “Critical
Accounting Estimates and Judgments” section of our 2012 annual management’s discussion and analysis, which is
contained in our 2012 annual report, for additional information. Since the date of our 2012 annual management’s
discussion and analysis, there have not been any significant changes to our critical accounting estimates and judgments.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in applicable U.S. and Canadian securities law) as of the end of the period covered by this
management’s discussion and analysis, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure
that all information that we are required to disclose in reports that we file or furnish under the U.S. Securities Exchange
Act and applicable Canadian securities law is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and Canadian securities regulatory authorities and (ii) accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with IFRS. A multi-year phased implementation of order-to-cash (OTC) applications and related
workflow processes is in progress. Key elements of the OTC solutions are order management, billing, cash management and
collections functionality. We expect to reduce the number of applications and to streamline processes across our organization
through this initiative. Additionally, we have initiated a project to automate manual processes and update workflows
associated with intercompany revenue and cost allocation. We continue to modify the design and documentation of the
related internal control processes and procedures as the phased implementations of these initiatives progresses.
Except as described above, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months
ended March 31, 2013 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

SHARE CAPITAL
As of April 29, 2013, we had outstanding 829,229,256 common shares, 6,000,000 Series II preference shares, 11,258,255
stock options and a total of 8,043,968 time-based restricted share units and performance restricted share units. We have
also issued a Thomson Reuters Founders Share which enables Thomson Reuters Founders Share Company to exercise
extraordinary voting power to safeguard the Thomson Reuters Trust Principles.

PUBLIC SECURITIES FILINGS AND REGULATORY ANNOUNCEMENTS
You may access other information about our company, including our 2012 annual report (which contains information
required in an annual information form) and our other disclosure documents, reports, statements or other information that
we file with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities through SEDAR at www.sedar.com and in the United States with
the SEC at www.sec.gov.

20

CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS
Certain statements in this management’s discussion and analysis, including, but not limited to statements in the ”Outlook”
section are forward-looking. These forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and reflect our company’s
current expectations. As a result, forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations. Certain factors that could cause actual results or
events to differ materially from current expectations are discussed in the “Outlook“ section above. Additional factors are
discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of our 2012 annual report and in materials that we from time to time file with, or furnish
to, the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. There is no assurance
that any forward-looking statement will materialize. Our outlook is provided for the purpose of providing information about
current expectations for 2013. This information may not be appropriate for other purposes. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect our expectations only as of the date of this management’s
discussion and analysis. Except as may be required by applicable law, we disclaim any obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements.
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APPENDIX A
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
We use non-IFRS financial measures as supplemental indicators of our operating performance and financial position.
These measures do not have any standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and therefore are unlikely to be comparable
to the calculation of similar measures used by other companies. The following table sets forth our non-IFRS financial
measures, including an explanation of why we believe they are useful measures of our performance. Reconciliations for the
most directly comparable IFRS measure are reflected in our management’s discussion and analysis.
Non-IFRS Financial
Measure

How We Define It

Why We Use It and Why It Is
Useful to Investors

Revenues from
ongoing businesses

Revenues from reportable
segments and Corporate &
Other (which includes the
Reuters News business), less
eliminations.
Revenues applying the same
foreign currency exchange
rates for the current and
equivalent prior period. To
calculate the foreign
currency impact between
periods, we convert the
current and equivalent prior
period’s local currency
revenues using the same
foreign currency exchange
rate.

Provides a measure of our
ability to grow our ongoing
businesses over the long term.

Revenues at constant
currency (before
currency or revenues
excluding the effects of
foreign currency)

Underlying operating
profit and underlying
operating profit
margin

Adjusted EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA
margin

Adjusted EBITDA less
capital expenditures
and adjusted EBITDA
less capital
expenditures margin

Operating profit from
reportable segments and
Corporate & Other. The
related margin is expressed
as a percentage of revenues
from ongoing businesses.
Underlying operating profit
excluding the related
depreciation and
amortization of computer
software. The related margin
is expressed as a percentage
of revenues from ongoing
businesses.
Adjusted EBITDA less capital
expenditures, less proceeds
from disposals (excluding
Other Businesses). The
related margin is expressed
as a percentage of revenues
from ongoing businesses.

Provides a measure of
underlying business trends,
without distortion from the
effect of foreign currency
movements during the period.
Our reporting currency is the
U.S. dollar. However, we
conduct a significant amount of
our activities in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar. We
manage our operating
segments on a constant
currency basis, and we manage
currency exchange risk at the
corporate level.
Provides a basis to evaluate
operating profitability and
performance trends, excluding
the impact of items which
distort the performance of our
operations.
Provides a measure commonly
reported and widely used by
investors as an indicator of a
company’s operating
performance and ability to
incur and service debt, and as a
valuation metric.
Provides a basis for evaluating
the operating profitability and
capital intensity of a business
in a single measure. This
measure captures investments
regardless of whether they are
expensed or capitalized.
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Most Directly
Comparable IFRS
Measure/Reconciliation
Revenues

Revenues

Operating profit

(Loss) earnings from
continuing operations

(Loss) earnings from
continuing operations

Non-IFRS Financial
Measure

How We Define It

Why We Use It and Why It Is
Useful to Investors

Adjusted earnings and
adjusted earnings per
share

(Loss) earnings attributable
to common shareholders and
per share excluding:

Provides a more comparable
basis to analyze earnings and is
also a measure commonly used
by shareholders to measure our
performance.

•

•

•

the pre-tax impacts of
amortization of other
identifiable intangible
assets;
the post-tax impacts of
fair value adjustments,
other operating gains
and losses, certain
impairment charges, the
results of Other
Businesses, other net
finance costs or income,
our share of post-tax
earnings or losses in
equity method
investments,
discontinued operations
and other items
affecting comparability.
We also deduct
dividends declared on
preference shares; and
amortization of the tax
charge associated with
the consolidation of
ownership and
management of
technology and content
assets. For the
non-IFRS measure, the
charge is amortized over
seven years, the period
over which the tax is
expected to be paid.

We believe this treatment more
accurately reflects our tax
position because the tax
liability is associated with
ongoing tax implications from
the consolidation of these
assets.

This measure is calculated
using diluted weighted
average shares.
In interim periods, we also
adjust our reported earnings
and earnings per share to
reflect a normalized effective
tax rate. Specifically, the
normalized effective rate is
computed as the estimated
full-year effective tax rate
applied to adjusted pre-tax
earnings of the interim
period. The reported
effective tax rate is based on
separate annual effective
income tax rates for each
taxing jurisdiction that are
applied to each interim
period’s pre-tax income.

Because the geographical mix
of pre-tax profits and losses in
interim periods distorts the
reported effective tax rate
within an interim period, we
believe that using the expected
full-year effective tax rate
provides more comparability
among interim periods. The
adjustment to normalize the
effective tax rate reallocates
estimated full-year income
taxes between interim periods,
but has no effect on full year
tax expense or on cash taxes
paid.
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Most Directly
Comparable IFRS
Measure/Reconciliation
(Loss) earnings
attributable to common
shareholders and (loss)
earnings per share
attributable to common
shareholders

Non-IFRS Financial
Measure

How We Define It

Why We Use It and Why It Is
Useful to Investors

Net debt

Total indebtedness,
including the associated fair
value of hedging instruments
on our debt, but excluding
unamortized transaction
costs and premiums or
discounts associated with
our debt, less cash and cash
equivalents.

Provides a commonly used
measure of a company’s
leverage.

Free cash flow

Net cash provided by
operating activities and other
investing activities, less
capital expenditures and
dividends paid on our
preference shares.

Free cash flow from
ongoing businesses

Free cash flow excluding
businesses that have been or
are expected to be exited
through sale or closure,
which we refer to as “Other
Businesses”.

Given that we hedge some of
our debt to reduce risk, we
include hedging instruments as
we believe it provides a better
measure of the total obligation
associated with our
outstanding debt. However,
because we intend to hold our
debt and related hedges to
maturity, we do not consider
certain components of the
associated fair value of hedges
in our measurements. We
reduce gross indebtedness by
cash and cash equivalents.
Helps assess our ability, over
the long term, to create value
for our shareholders as it
represents cash available to
repay debt, pay common
dividends and fund share
repurchases and new
acquisitions.
Provides a supplemental
measure of our ability, over the
long term, to create value for
our shareholders because it
represents free cash flow
generated by our operations
excluding businesses that have
been or are expected to be
exited through sale or closure.
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Most Directly
Comparable IFRS
Measure/Reconciliation
Total debt (current
indebtedness plus
long-term indebtedness)

Net cash provided by
operating activities

Net cash provided by
operating activities

APPENDIX B
This appendix provides reconciliations that are not presented elsewhere in this management’s discussion and analysis for certain
non-IFRS measures to the most directly comparable IFRS measure for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.

RECONCILIATION OF (LOSS) EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS TO ADJUSTED
EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA LESS CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012 Change
(17)
308
n/m

(millions of U.S. dollars)
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations
Adjustments to remove:
Tax expense (benefit)
Other finance costs (income)
Net interest expense
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Amortization of computer software
Depreciation
EBITDA
Adjustments to remove:
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments
Other operating losses (gains), net
Fair value adjustments
EBITDA from Other Businesses(1)
Adjusted EBITDA
Remove: Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals
(1)
(excluding Other Businesses)
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures
Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures margin

247
55
115
160
188
107
855

(40)
(30)
129
152
172
109
800

(10)
6
(62)
(32)
757

(3)
(22)
30
(33)
772

(2%)

350
407
24.4%
13.1%

272
500
25.1%
16.3%

(19%)
(70)bp
(320)bp

RECONCILIATION OF UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT TO ADJUSTED EBITDA BY
SEGMENT

(millions of U.S. dollars)

Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters
News)(2)
Total

Three months ended March 31, 2013
Add:
Depreciation
and
Underlying amortization of
Operating
computer Adjusted
profit
software **
EBITDA

Three months ended March 31, 2012
Add:
Depreciation
and
Underlying amortization of
computer Adjusted
Operating
software ** EBITDA
profit

200
201
69
51

160
75
29
19

360
276
98
70

270
201
63
55

153
69
28
17

423
270
91
72

(59)
462

12
295

(47)
757

(92)
497

8
275

(84)
772

** excludes Other Businesses (1)
(1)

Other Businesses are businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure that did not qualify for
discontinued operations classification. Significant businesses in this category include: Trade and Risk Management (trade and risk
management solutions provider to financial institutions, sold in the first quarter of 2012); Healthcare (data analytics and
performance benchmarking solutions provider, sold in the second quarter of 2012); Property Tax Consulting (property tax
outsourcing and compliance services provider in the U.S., sold in the fourth quarter of 2012); and Corporate Services (provider of
tools and solutions that help companies communicate with investors and media, currently held for sale).
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(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues

Three months ended
March 31,
2013
2012
78
243

Operating profit
Depreciation and amortization of computer software
EBITDA
Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals
(2)

32
32
-

27
6
33
8

Corporate & Other includes the Reuters News business and expenses for corporate functions and certain share-based compensation
costs.

RECONCILIATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES USED IN ADJUSTED EPS
Because we reported a net loss from continuing operations under IFRS for the three months ended March 31, 2013, the
weighted average number of shares used for basic and diluted loss per share is the same, as the effect of stock options and
other equity incentive awards would reduce the loss per share, and therefore be anti-dilutive. Since our non-IFRS measure
“adjusted earnings” is a profit, potential common shares are included, as they lower adjusted EPS and are therefore
dilutive.
The following table reconciles IFRS and non-IFRS common share information:
Three months ended
March 31, 2013
828,342,978
2,104,177
830,447, 155

(weighted average common shares)
IFRS: Basic and Diluted
Effect of stock options and other equity incentive awards
Non- IFRS Diluted
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APPENDIX C
SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Effective January 1, 2013, we adopted amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements.
Additionally, certain businesses, most notably our Corporate Services business, were reclassified from ongoing businesses
to Other Businesses, and the Financial & Risk segment was realigned to classify certain products according to how they are
currently managed. This appendix presents our revised consolidated income statement, segment information and
reconciliations to non-IFRS measures for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
See note 2 of our interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and note 3 of our 2012 annual
financial statements for information regarding changes in accounting policies.

Consolidated Income Statement
(unaudited)

(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
Revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation
Amortization of computer software
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Goodwill impairment
Other operating gains, net
Operating profit (loss)
Finance costs, net:
Net interest expense
Other finance income (costs)
Income (loss) before tax and equity method investments
Share of post-tax earnings and impairment in equity method investments
Tax expense
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) attributable to:
Common shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2011
13,132
13,650
(9,710)
(9,927)
(425)
(434)
(691)
(649)
(619)
(612)
(3,010)
883
204
2,570
(778)
(453)
40
2,157
9
(126)
2,040
2
2,042

(448)
(15)
(1,241)
55
(271)
(1,457)
4
(1,453)

1,989
53

(1,451)
(2)

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share

$2.40
$2.40

($1.75)
0.01
($1.74)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

$2.39
$2.39

($1.75)
0.01
($1.74)
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Business segment information
Year ended
December 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
Trading
Investors
Marketplaces
Governance Risk & Compliance
Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Reportable segments
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters News)(2)
Eliminations
Revenues from ongoing businesses
Other Businesses(1)
Consolidated revenues
Operating profit (loss)
Segment operating profit
Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Reportable segments
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters News)(2)
Underlying operating profit
Other Businesses(1)
Integration programs expenses
Fair value adjustments
Amortization of other identifiable intangible
assets
Goodwill impairment
Other operating gains, net
Consolidated operating profit (loss)

2012

2011

2,645
2,168
1,770
219
6,802
3,266
1,161
894
12,123
331
(11)
12,443
689
13,132

2,784
2,211
1,739
154
6,888
3,195
1,009
852
11,944
336
(13)
12,267
1,383
13,650

1,082
967
238
235
2,522
(317)
2,205
137
(36)

1,245
945
215
237
2,642
(301)
2,341
365
(215)
149

(619)
883
2,570

(612)
(3,010)
204
(778)
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Percentage change:
Existing
Acquired Constant
businesses businesses currency

Foreign
currency

Total

(2%)
(1%)
(2%)
17%
(1%)
1%
4%
3%
1%
n/m

5%
26%
2%
2%
12%
3%
3%
3%
n/m

(2%)
(1%)
3%
43%
1%
3%
16%
6%
3%
1%
3%
n/m

(3%)
(1%)
(1%)
(1%)
(2%)
(1%)
(1%)
(1%)
(2%)
(2%)
(2%)
n/m

(5%)
(2%)
2%
42%
(1%)
2%
15%
5%
1%
(1%)
1%
n/m

n/m

n/m

n/m

n/m

(4%)

Margin
2012
2011
15.9%
18.1%
29.6%
29.6%
20.5%
21.3%
26.3%
27.8%
20.8%
22.1%
17.7%

19.1%

Reconciliation of operating profit (loss) to underlying operating profit and adjusted EBITDA

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Operating profit (loss)
Adjustments to remove:
Goodwill impairment
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Integration programs expenses
Fair value adjustments
Other operating gains, net
Operating profit from Other Businesses (1)
Underlying operating profit
Adjustments:
Add: Integration programs expenses
Remove: Depreciation and amortization of computer software (excluding Other
Businesses (1))
Adjusted EBITDA
Underlying operating profit margin
Adjusted EBITDA margin

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2011
2,570
(778)

Change
n/m

619
36
(883)
(137)
2,205

3,010
612
215
(149)
(204)
(365)
2,341

-

(215)

1,105
3,310

1,023
3,149

5%

17.7%
26.6%

19.1%
25.7%

(140)bp
90bp

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2011
1,989
(1,451)

Change
n/m

(6%)

Reconciliation of earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders to adjusted earnings

(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
Earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders
Adjustments to remove:
Goodwill impairment
Goodwill impairment attributable to non-controlling interests
Operating profit from Other Businesses (1)
Fair value adjustments
Other operating gains, net
Other finance (income) costs
Share of post-tax earnings and impairment in equity method investments
Tax on above items
Discrete tax items
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Discontinued operations
Dividends declared on preference shares
Adjusted earnings
Adjusted earnings per share
Diluted weighted average common shares (millions)
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(137)
36
(883)
(40)
(9)
251
(254)
619
(2)
(3)
1,567
$1.89
829.6

3,010
(40)
(365)
(149)
(204)
15
(55)
193
(105)
612
(4)
(3)
1,454
$1.74
835.8

8%
9%

Reconciliation of earnings (loss) from continuing operations to adjusted EBITDA

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Adjustments to remove:
Tax expense
Other finance (income) costs
Net interest expense
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Amortization of computer software
Depreciation
EBITDA
Adjustments to remove:
Share of post-tax earnings and impairment in equity method investments
Other operating gains, net
Goodwill impairment
Fair value adjustments
EBITDA from Other Businesses (1)
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA margin

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2011 Change
2,040
(1,457)
n/m
126
(40)
453
619
691
425
4,314

271
15
448
612
649
434
972

(9)
(883)
36
(148)
3,310
26.6%

(55)
(204)
3,010
(149)
(425)
3,149
25.7%

5%
90bp

Reconciliation of underlying operating profit to adjusted EBITDA by business segment

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters
(2)
News)
Integration programs expenses
Total

Year ended December 31, 2012
Add:
Depreciation
and
Underlying amortization
Operating of computer Adjusted
profit
software ** EBITDA
1,082
609
1,691
967
279
1,246
238
114
352
235
68
303
(317)
na
2,205

35
na
1,105

(282)
na
3,310

Year ended December 31, 2011
Add:
Depreciation
and
Underlying amortization
Operating of computer Adjusted
profit
software ** EBITDA
1,245
558
1,803
945
268
1,213
215
95
310
237
59
296
(301)
na
2,341

43
na
1,023

(258)
(215)
3,149

** excludes Other Businesses (1)
(1)

Other Businesses are businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or closure that did not qualify for
discontinued operations classification. Significant businesses in this category include: BARBRI (legal education provider, sold in the
second quarter of 2011); Trade and Risk Management (trade and risk management solutions provider to financial institutions, sold in
the first quarter of 2012); Healthcare (data analytics and performance benchmarking solutions provider, sold in the second quarter of
2012); Property Tax Consulting (property tax outsourcing and compliance services provider in the U.S., sold in the fourth quarter of
2012); and Corporate Services (provider of tools and solutions that help companies communicate with investors and media, currently
held for sale).

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenues
Operating profit
Depreciation and amortization of computer software
EBITDA
(2)

Year ended December 31,
2012
2011
689
1,383
137
11
148

365
60
425

Corporate & Other includes the Reuters News business and expenses for corporate functions and certain share-based compensation
costs.
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APPENDIX D
QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following table presents a summary of our consolidated operating results for the eight most recent quarters.
Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended
March 31,
June 30, September 30, December 31,
(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
2013 2012(1) 2012(1) 2011(1) 2012(1) 2011(1) 2012(1) 2011(1)
Revenues
3,175 3,315 3,272 3,408 3,181 3,413 3,364 3,539
Operating profit (loss)
390
364 1,297
816
372
638
537 (2,609)
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations
(17)
308
916
556
451
366
365 (2,619)
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax
(2)
(1)
2
3
2
Net (loss) earnings
(17)
306
915
556
453
366
368 (2,617)
(Loss) earnings attributable to common shares
(31)
294
902
547
441
354
352 (2,587)
Dividends declared on preference shares
Basic (loss) earnings per share
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Diluted (loss) earnings per share
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

-

-

(1)

(1)

($0.04)
($0.04)

$0.35
$0.35

$1.09
$1.09

$0.65 $0.53
$0.65 $0.53

$0.42 $0.41 ($3.12)
0.01
$0.42 $0.42 ($3.12)

($0.04)
($0.04)

$0.35
$0.35

$1.08
$1.08

$0.65 $0.53
$0.65 $0.53

$0.42 $0.41 ($3.12)
0.01
$0.42 $0.42 ($3.12)

Amounts restated to reflect retrospective application of amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits and the adoption of IFRS 11, Joint
Arrangements. See note 2 of our interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and note 3 of our 2012
annual financial statements for information regarding changes in accounting policies.

Our revenues and operating profits do not tend to be significantly impacted by seasonality as we record a large portion of
our revenues ratably over a contract term and our costs (other than expenses associated with the Reuters integration
program that commenced in 2008 and was completed in 2011) are generally incurred evenly throughout the year.
However, our non-recurring revenues can cause changes in our performance from quarter to consecutive quarter.
Additionally, the release of certain print-based offerings can be seasonal as can certain product releases for the regulatory
markets, which tend to be concentrated at the end of the year. Our results also reflect the savings benefits realized from
the Reuters integration.
Revenues declined in each of the trailing four quarters compared to the respective prior-year periods, primarily reflecting
divestitures. Revenue performance over these periods also reflected challenges in our Financial & Risk segment, including
an overall difficult economic environment, especially in Europe. This dynamic was partially offset by growth in our Legal,
Tax & Accounting and Intellectual Property & Science segments. Acquisitions contributed to revenue changes. Foreign
currency had a negative impact on revenues in the first quarter of 2013, second and third quarter of 2012 and no impact in
the fourth quarter of 2012. The net loss in the first quarter of 2013 was due to higher tax expense of $235 million
associated with the further consolidation of the ownership and management of our technology and content assets.
Operating profit in the second quarter of 2012 included gains on sales of businesses of $789 million, primarily from the
sale of our Healthcare business. The second quarter of 2011 included $382 million of gains from the disposal of businesses
and investments. Operating profit declined in the third quarter of 2012 compared to 2011 due to divestitures and lower fair
value adjustments. Our results for the fourth quarter of 2011 included a $3.0 billion non-cash goodwill impairment charge
related to our financial businesses. Results for 2011 reflected integration program expenses associated with our acquisition
of Reuters in 2008. These initiatives were completed in the fourth quarter of 2011.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
(unaudited)
(millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
Revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation
Amortization of computer software
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Other operating (losses) gains, net
Operating profit
Finance costs, net:
Net interest expense
Other finance (costs) income
Income before tax and equity method investments
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments
Tax (expense) benefit
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) earnings
(Loss) earnings attributable to:
Common shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Notes
5

6

7
7
8
9

(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
3,175
3,315
(2,324)
(2,540)
(107)
(109)
(188)
(172)
(160)
(152)
(6)
22
390
364
(115)
(55)
220
10
(247)
(17)
(17)

(129)
30
265
3
40
308
(2)
306

(31)
14

294
12

($0.04)
($0.04)

$0.35
$0.35

10

The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31,
Notes
2013
2012
(17)
306

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Net (loss) earnings
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Cash flow hedges adjustments to earnings
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to net earnings:
Cash flow hedges adjustments to equity
Foreign currency translation adjustments to equity

43

(47)

(29)
(253)
(282)

18
81
99

Item that will not be reclassified to net earnings:
(1)
Net remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans, net of tax
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Total comprehensive (loss) income

79
(160)
(177)

(24)
28
334

Comprehensive (loss) income for the period attributable to:
Common shareholders
Non-controlling interests

(191)
14

322
12

(1)

7,11

The related tax (expense) benefit was ($39) million and $3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(unaudited)
(millions of U.S. dollars)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets excluding assets held for sale
Assets held for sale
Current assets
Computer hardware and other property, net
Computer software, net
Other identifiable intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other financial assets
Other non-current assets
Deferred tax
Total assets

Notes
11
11

12

11
13

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Current indebtedness
Payables, accruals and provisions
Deferred revenue
Other financial liabilities
Current liabilities excluding liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Current liabilities
Long-term indebtedness
Provisions and other non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Deferred tax
Total liabilities
Equity
Capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

11
14
11
12
11
15
11

16

Contingencies (note 19)
The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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March 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

423
1,920
104
617
3,064
349
3,413
1,325
1,701
8,076
16,525
352
604
49
32,045

1,283
1,818
72
638
3,811
302
4,113
1,416
1,659
8,134
16,251
355
559
50
32,537

1,340
2,069
1,324
83
4,816
26
4,842
6,170
2,401
31
1,523
14,967

1,008
2,612
1,222
95
4,937
35
4,972
6,223
2,502
37
1,305
15,039

10,402
8,089
(1,776)
16,715
363
17,078
32,045

10,371
8,311
(1,537)
17,145
353
17,498
32,537

THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
(unaudited)
(millions of U.S. dollars)
Cash provided by (used in):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) earnings
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortization of computer software
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Net gains on disposals of businesses
Deferred tax
Other
Changes in working capital and other items
Net cash provided by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from other disposals, net of taxes paid
Capital expenditures, less proceeds from disposals
Other investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from debt
Repayments of debt
Net borrowings (repayments) under short-term loan facilities
Repurchases of common shares
Dividends paid on preference shares
Dividends paid on common shares
Other financing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Notes

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012

(17)

306

107
188
160
(14)
172
65
(545)
116

109
172
152
(37)
(179)
109
(365)
267

18

(730)
30
(350)
4
(1,046)

(159)
614
(280)
10
185

11
11

440
(440)
332
(1)
(259)
9
81
(11)
(860)
1,283
423

(136)
(24)
(1)
(256)
8
(409)
4
47
404
451

(97)
2
-

(116)
1
(61)

17
17

16
16

Supplemental cash flow information is provided in note 17.
Interest paid
Interest received
Income taxes paid

Amounts paid and received for interest are reflected as operating cash flows. Interest paid is net of debt-related hedges.
Amounts paid and received for taxes are reflected as either operating cash flows or investing cash flows depending on the
nature of the underlying transaction.
The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(unaudited)

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2012
Comprehensive income (loss)(1)
Distributions to non-controlling
interest
Dividends declared on
preference shares
Dividends declared on common
shares
Shares issued under Dividend
Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”)
Stock compensation plans
Balance, March 31, 2013

(millions of U.S. dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2011
Comprehensive income (loss)(1)
Distributions to non- controlling
interest
Dividends declared on
preference shares
Dividends declared on common
shares
Shares issued under DRIP
Repurchases of common shares
Stock compensation plans
Balance, March 31, 2012

(1)

Stated
share Contributed
capital
surplus
10,201
170
-

Total
Retained
capital
earnings
10,371
8,311
48

Unrecognized
Foreign
(loss) gain on currency
cash flow
translation
hedges
adjustments
(56)
(1,481)
14
(253)

Total
accumulated
other
comprehensive
(loss) income Non-controlling
(“AOCL”)
interests
(1,537)
353
(239)
14

Total
17,498
(177)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4)

(4)

-

-

-

(1)

-

-

-

-

(1)

-

-

-

(269)

-

-

-

-

(269)

10
52
10,263

(31)
139

10
21
10,402

8,089

(42)

(1,734)

(1,776)

363

10
21
17,078

Foreign
Unrecognized
currency
Total
Retained loss on cash translation
capital
earnings flow hedges adjustments
10,288
7,633
(22)
(1,494)
270
(29)
81

AOCL
(1,516)
52

Non-controlling
interests
345
12

Total
16,750
334

Stated
share Contributed
capital
surplus
10,134
154
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8)

(8)

-

-

-

(1)

-

-

-

-

(1)

9
(10)
41
10,174

(8)
146

9
(10)
33
10,320

(265)
(14)
7,623

(51)

(1,413)

(1,464)

349

(265)
9
(24)
33
16,828

Retained earnings for the three months ended March 31, 2013 includes net remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension plans of
$79 million, net of tax (2012 - losses of $24 million, net of tax).

The related notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THOMSON REUTERS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
(unless otherwise stated, all amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars)

Note 1: Business description and basis of preparation
General business description
Thomson Reuters Corporation (the “Company” or “Thomson Reuters”) is an Ontario, Canada corporation with common
shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and Series II preference
shares listed on the TSX. The Company provides intelligent information to businesses and professionals. Its offerings
combine industry expertise with innovative technology to deliver critical information to decision makers.
Basis of preparation
The unaudited consolidated interim financial statements (“interim financial statements”) were prepared using the same
accounting policies and methods as those used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2012, except as described in note 2. The interim financial statements are in compliance with International
Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”). Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosure
normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), have been omitted or condensed. The
preparation of financial statements in accordance with IAS 34 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements have been set out in note 2 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2012. These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012, which are included in the Company’s 2012 annual report.
The accompanying interim financial statements include all adjustments, composed of normal recurring adjustments,
considered necessary by management to fairly state the Company’s results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
The operating results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any other interim
period or for the full year.
References to “$” are to U.S. dollars and references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars.

Note 2: Changes in accounting policies
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee that are
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Many of these updates are not applicable or
consequential to the Company and have been excluded from the discussion below.

Pronouncements and related amendments adopted January 1, 2013
IAS 19, Employee Benefits
The Company adopted amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits, beginning January 1, 2013 with retrospective application
from January 1, 2012. The new standard introduces a measure of net interest income (expense) computed on the net
pension asset (obligation) that replaced separate measurement of the expected return on plan assets and interest expense
on the benefit obligation. The new standard also requires immediate recognition of past service costs associated with
benefit plan changes. Under the previous standard, past service costs were recognized over the vesting period. As part of
the adoption, the Company reclassified pension net interest to finance costs from its former classification within operating
profit.
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Under retrospective application of the new standard, the Company’s restated net earnings for 2012 are lower than originally
reported. The decrease arises because net interest income (expense) is now calculated using the discount rate used to value
the benefit obligation, which is lower than the expected rate of return on assets (“EROA”) previously used to measure net
interest attributable to plan assets. The EROA is no longer a critical accounting estimate under the new standard. The
adoption impact on the financial statement captions for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:
Consolidated Income Statement
Increase (decrease)
Operating expenses
Operating profit
Net interest expense
Income before tax and equity method investments
Tax (expense) benefit
Net (loss) earnings

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
11
12
(11)
(12)
16
15
(27)
(27)
7
7
(20)
(20)

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

($0.02)

($0.03)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Increase (decrease)
Net (loss) earnings
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Net remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans, net of tax

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
(20)
(20)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
Increase (decrease)
Operating Activities
Net (loss) earnings
Adjustments for:
Deferred tax
Other

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012

20

20

(20)

(20)

(7)
27

(7)
27

There is no impact to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.
Consolidation, Joint Ventures and Separate Financial Statements
The Company adopted the following standards regarding Consolidation, Joint Ventures and Separate Financial Statements
beginning January 1, 2013 with retrospective application from January 1, 2012:
IFRS 10

Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the guidance on ‘consolidation’ in IAS 27 - Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements, and Standing Interpretations
Committee (“SIC”) 12 - Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. The new
standard contains a single consolidation model that identifies control as
the basis for consolidation for all types of entities, including special
purpose entities. The new standard also sets out requirements for
situations when control is difficult to assess, including circumstances in
which voting rights are not the dominant factor in determining control.

IFRS 11

Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces the guidance on ‘joint ventures’ in IAS 31 - Interests in Joint
Ventures, and SIC 13 - Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary
Contributions by Ventures. The new standard introduces a principles-based
approach to accounting for joint arrangements that requires a party to a
joint arrangement to recognize its rights and obligations arising from the
arrangement. The new standard requires that joint ventures be accounted
for under the equity method and eliminates the option to proportionally
consolidate.

IAS 27

Separate Financial Statements

IAS 27 has been amended for the issuance of IFRS 10, but retains the
current guidance for separate financial statements.

IAS 28

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

IAS 28 has been amended for conforming changes based on the issuance
of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11. The amendment requires that where a joint
arrangement is determined to be a joint venture under IFRS 11, it should be
accounted for using the equity method guidance provided in this standard.
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The adoption of the pronouncements and amendments described above did not have a material impact on the Company’s results
for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 and financial position at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012. However, as
a result of the adoption of these standards, the Company no longer proportionately consolidates its joint arrangements in (i)
Omgeo, a provider of trade management services within its Financial & Risk segment and (ii) Westlaw Japan K.K., a provider of
legal information and solutions to the Japanese legal market, within its Legal segment. Instead, the Company now applies the
equity method to these joint ventures. Under retrospective application of the new standard, there is no impact to the Company’s
restated net earnings for 2012. However, consolidated revenues are lower than those previously reported in prior periods and the
operating profit of each joint venture has been reclassified from consolidated operating profit to share of post-tax earnings in
equity method investments. Segment results no longer include revenues or operating profits from these joint arrangements.
Other Pronouncements and Amendments
The following other pronouncements and amendments were also effective beginning January 1, 2013, but did not have a
material impact on the Company’s results for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 and financial position at
March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
IFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

IFRS 7 has been amended to provide common disclosure requirements
with U.S. GAAP about rights of offset and related arrangements for
financial statements under an enforceable master netting or similar
arrangement.

IFRS 12

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities

IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities applying IFRS 10, 11
and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011). The new standard combines, enhances
and replaces the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, associates,
joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.

IFRS 13

Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 defines 'fair value' and sets out in a single standard a framework
for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The new standard reduces complexity and improves
consistency by clarifying the definition of fair value and requiring its
application to all fair value measurements.

2009 – 2011
Cycle

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs for the 2009 – 2011 Cycle (“Annual
Improvements”) make non-urgent but necessary amendments to
several IFRSs. Among several changes, the Annual Improvements: (a)
amend IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, to clarify the classification
of servicing equipment; (b) amend IAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation, to clarify the treatment of income tax relating to
distributions and transaction costs; and (c) amend IAS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, to clarify the disclosure requirements for segment
assets and liabilities in interim financial statements.

Pronouncements and related amendments effective January 1, 2014 or later
The following pronouncements are effective for annual accounting periods beginning January 1, 2014 or later:
IAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation effective January 1, 2014

IAS 32 has been amended to clarify certain requirements for offsetting
financial assets and liabilities. The amendment addresses the meaning
and application of the concepts of legally enforceable right of set-off and
simultaneous realization and settlement. IAS 32 relates to presentation
and disclosures and is not anticipated to have a material impact on the
Company’s results and financial position.

IFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures effective January 1, 2015

IFRS 7 has been amended to require disclosures that are either
permitted or required on the basis of the entity’s date of adoption of
IFRS 9 and whether the entity elects to restate prior periods under IFRS
9. IFRS 7 is not anticipated to have a material impact on the Company’s
results and financial position.

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments (Classification
and Measurement) - effective
January 1, 2015

IFRS 9 replaces the guidance on ‘classification and measurement’ of
financial instruments in IAS 39 - Financial Instruments - Recognition and
Measurement. The new standard requires a consistent approach to the
classification of financial assets and replaces the numerous categories of
financial assets in IAS 39 with two categories, measured at either
amortized cost or at fair value. For financial liabilities, the standard
retains most of the IAS 39 requirements, but where the fair value option
is taken, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk
is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income
statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. IFRS 9 is being
assessed to determine its impact on the Company’s results and financial
position.
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Note 3: Segment information
The Company is organized as four reportable segments reflecting how the businesses are managed: Financial & Risk,
Legal, Tax & Accounting and Intellectual Property & Science. The accounting policies applied by the segments are the
same as those applied by the Company. Segment information for 2012 was reclassified to reflect the current presentation.
The reportable segments offer products and services to target markets as described below.
Financial & Risk
The Financial & Risk segment is a provider of critical news, information and analytics, enabling transactions and bringing
together financial communities. Financial & Risk also provides regulatory and operational risk management solutions.
Legal
The Legal segment is a provider of critical online and print information, decision support tools, software and services to
support legal, investigation, business and government professionals around the world.
Tax & Accounting
The Tax & Accounting segment is a provider of integrated tax compliance and accounting information, software and
services for professionals in accounting firms, corporations, law firms and government.
Intellectual Property & Science
The Intellectual Property & Science segment is a provider of comprehensive intellectual property and scientific
information, decision support tools and services that enable governments, academia, publishers, corporations and law
firms to discover, develop and deliver innovations.
The Company also reports “Corporate & Other” and “Other Businesses”. These categories neither qualify as a component
of another reportable segment nor as a separate reportable segment.
•

Corporate & Other includes expenses for corporate functions, certain share-based compensation costs and the
Reuters News business, which is comprised of the Reuters News Agency and consumer publishing; and

•

Other Businesses is an aggregation of businesses that have been or are expected to be exited through sale or
closure that did not qualify for discontinued operations classification. See notes 6 and 12.
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012

Revenues
Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Reportable segments
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters News)
Eliminations
Revenues from ongoing businesses
(1)
Other Businesses
Consolidated revenues
Operating profit
Segment operating profit
Financial & Risk
Legal
Tax & Accounting
Intellectual Property & Science
Reportable segments
Corporate & Other (includes Reuters News)
Underlying operating profit
Other Businesses(1)
Fair value adjustments (see note 5)
Amortization of other identifiable intangible assets
Other operating (losses) gains, net
Consolidated operating profit
(1)

1,675
794
317
233
3,019
81
(3)
3,097
78
3,175

1,713
771
299
209
2,992
82
(2)
3,072
243
3,315

200
201
69
51
521
(59)
462
32
62
(160)
(6)
390

270
201
63
55
589
(92)
497
27
(30)
(152)
22
364

Significant businesses in this category include: Trade and Risk Management (trade and risk management solutions provider to
financial institutions, sold in the first quarter of 2012); Healthcare (data analytics and performance benchmarking solutions provider,
sold in the second quarter of 2012); Property Tax Consulting (property tax outsourcing and compliance services provider in the U.S.,
sold in the fourth quarter of 2012); and Investor Relations, Public Relations and Multimedia Solutions business (“Corporate
Services”), provider of tools and solutions that help companies communicate with investors and media, currently held for sale.
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In accordance with IFRS 8, Operating Segments, the Company discloses information about its reportable segments based
upon the measures used by management in assessing the performance of those reportable segments. Results from the
Reuters News business and Other Businesses are excluded from reportable segments as they do not qualify as a
component of the Company’s four reportable segments, nor as a separate reportable segment. The Company uses
segment operating profit to measure the operating performance of its reportable segments. The costs of centralized
support services such as technology, news, real estate, accounting, procurement, legal, human resources and strategy are
allocated to each segment based on usage or other applicable measures. Segment operating profit is defined as operating
profit before (i) amortization of other identifiable intangible assets; (ii) other operating gains and losses; (iii) certain asset
impairment charges; and (iv) corporate-related items and fair value adjustments. Management uses this measure because
amortization of other identifiable intangible assets, other operating gains and losses, certain asset impairment charges
and corporate-related items are not considered to be controllable operating activities for purposes of assessing the current
performance of the reportable segments. While in accordance with IFRS, the Company’s definition of segment operating
profit may not be comparable to that of other companies.
Management also uses revenues from ongoing businesses and underlying operating profit to measure its consolidated
performance, which includes Reuters News. Revenues from ongoing businesses are revenues from reportable segments
and Corporate & Other, less eliminations. Underlying operating profit is comprised of operating profit from reportable
segments and Corporate & Other. Other Businesses are excluded from both measures as they are not fundamental to the
Company’s strategy. Revenues from ongoing businesses and underlying operating profit do not have standardized
meaning under IFRS, and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures of other companies.

Note 4: Seasonality
The Company’s consolidated revenues and operating profits do not tend to be significantly impacted by seasonality as it
records a large portion of its revenues ratably over a contract term and its costs are generally incurred evenly throughout
the year. However, non-recurring revenues can cause changes in the Company’s performance from quarter to consecutive
quarter. Additionally, the release of certain print-based offerings can be seasonal as can certain product releases for the
regulatory markets, which tend to be concentrated at the end of the year.

Note 5: Operating expenses
The components of operating expenses include the following:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
1,280
1,283
18
34
75
77
1,373
1,394
502
595
245
257
147
144
119
120
(62)
30
2,324
2,540

Salaries, commissions and allowances
Share-based payments
Post-employment benefits
Total staff costs
(1)
Goods and services
Data
Telecommunications
Real estate
(2)
Fair value adjustments
Total operating expenses
(1)

Goods and services include professional fees, consulting services, contractors, technology-related expenses, selling and marketing,
and other general and administrative costs.

(2)

Fair value adjustments primarily represent mark-to-market impacts on embedded derivatives and certain share-based awards.

Operating expenses include costs incurred in the ordinary course of business. In the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012, operating expenses included $78 million and $28 million of severance charges, respectively. In 2013, the
charges related primarily to the Company’s previously announced intention to reduce Financial & Risk’s workforce.

Note 6: Other operating (losses) gains, net
Other operating losses, net, were $6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and were primarily comprised of
transaction-related charges associated with business acquisitions and divestitures, partially offset by a gain from the sale
of the Law School Publishing business.
Other operating gains, net, were $22 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and were primarily comprised of a
$37 million gain from the sale of the Trade and Risk Management business, partially offset by transaction-related charges
associated with business acquisitions and divestitures.
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Note 7: Finance costs, net
The components of finance costs, net, include interest (expense) income and other finance (costs) income as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
Interest expense:
Debt
Derivative financial instruments - hedging activities
Other
Fair value gains (losses) on financial instruments:
Debt
Cash flow hedges, transfer from equity
Fair value hedges
Net foreign exchange losses on debt
Net interest expense - debt
Net interest expense - pension and other post-employment benefit plans (see note 2)
Interest income
Net interest expense

Net (losses) gains due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates
Net gains on derivative instruments
Other finance (costs) income

(103)
4
(2)

(103)
4
(18)

2
(51)
(5)
54
(101)
(16)
2
(115)

2
47
1
(50)
(117)
(15)
3
(129)

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
(71)
23
16
7
(55)
30

Net (losses) gains due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates
Net (losses) gains due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates were principally comprised of amounts related to
certain intercompany funding arrangements.

Net gains on derivative instruments
Net gains on derivative instruments were principally comprised of amounts relating to freestanding derivative instruments.

Note 8: Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments
The components of share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments are as follows:

Share of post-tax earnings (losses) in equity method investees
Share of post-tax earnings in joint ventures
Share of post-tax earnings in equity method investments

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
4
(7)
6
10
10
3

Note 9: Taxation
The comparability of the Company’s tax (expense) benefit was impacted by various transactions and accounting
adjustments during both periods. Additionally, the tax (expense) benefit in each period reflected the mix of taxing
jurisdictions in which pre-tax profits and losses were recognized. Because the geographical mix of pre-tax profits and
losses in interim periods distorts the reported effective tax rate, tax expense or benefit in interim periods is not necessarily
indicative of tax expense for the full year.
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In the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company recorded a $235 million tax charge in conjunction with the further
consolidation of the ownership and management of the Company’s technology and content assets. This tax is expected to
be paid over the next seven years, in varying annual amounts. The following table sets forth significant components within
income tax (expense) benefit that impact comparability from period to period.
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
(8)
(33)
87

(Expense) benefit
Sale of businesses(1)
Healthcare(2)
Discrete tax items:
(3)
Consolidation of technology and content assets
(4)
Corporate tax rates
Uncertain tax positions
(5)
Other

(235)
1
2
11

14
4
8

(1)

In 2012, primarily relates to the sale of the Trade and Risk Management business.

(2)

Relates to the recognition of a deferred tax asset in connection with the sale of the Healthcare business in the second quarter of
2012.

(3)

Relates to the further consolidation of the ownership and management of the Company’s technology and content assets.

(4)

In 2012, relates to the reduction of deferred tax liabilities due to lower corporate tax rates that were substantively enacted in certain
jurisdictions outside the U.S.

(5)

Primarily relates to the recognition of deferred tax benefits in connection with acquisitions and disposals.

Note 10: (Loss) earnings per share
Basic (loss) earnings per share was calculated by dividing (loss) earnings attributable to common shareholders less
dividends declared on preference shares by the sum of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
period plus vested deferred share units (“DSUs”) and vested equity-based performance restricted share units (“PRSUs”).
DSUs represent common shares that certain employees have elected to receive in the future in lieu of cash compensation.
Diluted (loss) earnings per share were calculated using the denominator of the basic calculation described above adjusted
to include the potentially dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and time-based restricted share units (“TRSUs”). The
denominator is: (1) increased by the total number of additional common shares that would have been issued by the
Company assuming exercise of all stock options with exercise prices below the average market price for the period; and (2)
decreased by the number of shares that the Company could have repurchased if it had used the assumed proceeds from
the exercise of stock options to repurchase them on the open market at the average share price for the period.
(Loss) earnings used in determining consolidated (loss) earnings per share and (loss) earnings per share from continuing
operations are consolidated net (loss) earnings reduced by: (1) (loss) earnings attributable to non-controlling interests; and
(2) dividends declared on preference shares as presented below:

Net (loss) earnings
Less: Earnings attributable to non-controlling interests
Dividends declared on preference shares
(Loss) earnings used in consolidated earnings per share
Less: Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
(Loss) earnings used in (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
(17)
306
(14)
(12)
(1)
(1)
(32)
293
2
(32)
295

Loss used in determining loss per share from discontinued operations is the loss from discontinued operations as reported
within the income statement.
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The weighted-average number of shares outstanding, as well as a reconciliation of the weighted-average number of
shares outstanding used in the basic (loss) earnings per share computation to the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding used in the diluted (loss) earnings per share computation, is presented below:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
827,761,601 828,274,235
581,377
566,623
828,342,978 828,840,858
1,449,002
828,342,978 830,289,860

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Vested DSUs and PRSUs
Basic
Effect of stock options and TRSUs
Diluted

Because the Company reported a net loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013, the
weighted-average number of shares used for basic and diluted loss per share is the same, as the effect of stock options
and other equity incentive awards would reduce the loss per share, and therefore be anti-dilutive.

Note 11: Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position are as follows:

March 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets - current
Other financial assets non-current
Current indebtedness
Trade payables (see note 14)
Accruals (see note 14)
Other financial liabilities - current
Long term indebtedness
Other financial liabilities - non
current
Total

December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets - current
Other financial assets non-current
Current indebtedness
Trade payables (see note 14)
Accruals (see note 14)
Other financial liabilities - current
Long term indebtedness
Other financial liabilities - non
current
Total

Cash, trade
and other
receivables
423
1,920
40

Assets/
(liabilities)
at fair
value
through
earnings
64

Derivatives
used for
hedging
-

Other
financial
liabilities

Available
for sale
-

-

Total
423
1,920
104

66
-

35
(33)
-

229
-

22
-

(1,340)
(250)
(1,412)
(50)
(6,170)

352
(1,340)
(250)
(1,412)
(83)
(6,170)

2,449

(9)
57

(22)
207

22

(9,222)

(31)
(6,487)

Cash, trade
and other
receivables
1,283
1,818
31

Assets/
(liabilities)
at fair value
through
earnings
40

Derivatives
used for
hedging
1

69
-

9
(52)
-

3,201

(22)
(25)
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Other
financial
liabilities

Available
for sale

Total
1,283
1,818
72

-

-

257
-

20
-

(1,008)
(461)
(1,745)
(43)
(6,223)

355
(1,008)
(461)
(1,745)
(95)
(6,223)

(15)
243

20

(9,480)

(37)
(6,041)

Cash and cash equivalents
Of total cash and cash equivalents, $141 million and $148 million at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively,
was held in subsidiaries which have regulatory restrictions, contractual restrictions or operate in countries where exchange
controls and other legal restrictions apply and are therefore not available for general use by the Company.
Debt-related activity
At March 31, 2013, current indebtedness included $1.0 billion of notes due in 2013 and $327 million of commercial paper.
At December 31, 2012, current indebtedness included the same $1.0 billion of notes, however, there was no commercial
paper outstanding.
In the first quarter of 2013, the Company settled two forward starting interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional value
of $200 million, which it had entered into in the fourth quarter of 2012. The settlement resulted in the receipt of $8 million
in cash and a gain of $8 million was recorded in “other finance (costs) income” representing the amount transferred from
equity to earnings as the swaps were previously designated as cash flow hedges.
The Company has a $2.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility that expires in August 2016. The facility may be used to
provide liquidity in connection with the Company’s commercial paper program and for general corporate purposes. In the
first quarter of 2013, the Company borrowed and repaid $440 million. There were no outstanding borrowings at March 31,
2013.
Fair Value
The fair values of cash, trade and other receivables, trade payables and accruals approximate their carrying amounts
because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long term debt and related derivative
instruments is set forth below.
Debt and Related Derivative Instruments
Carrying Amounts
Amounts recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position are referred to as “carrying amounts”. The carrying
amounts of primary debt are reflected in “Long-term indebtedness” and “Current indebtedness” and the carrying amounts
of derivative instruments are included in “Other financial assets” and “Other financial liabilities”, both current and
long-term in the consolidated statement of financial position, as appropriate.
Fair Value
The fair value of debt is estimated based on either quoted market prices for similar issues or current rates offered to the
Company for debt of the same maturity. The fair values of interest rate swaps and forward contracts are estimated based
upon discounted cash flows using applicable current market rates and taking into account non-performance risk.
The following is a summary of debt and related derivative instruments that hedge the cash flows or fair value of the debt:
Carrying amount
Fair value
Derivative
Derivative
Primary
instruments
Primary
instruments
debt
(asset)
debt
(asset)
instruments
liability
instruments
liability
12
15
327
327
599
(113)
627
(113)
589
22
645
22
736
(113)
825
(113)
733
(3)
817
(3)
250
254
750
762
798
858
991
1,226
497
571
347
376
393
449
488
586
7,510
(207)
8,338
(207)
(1,340)
6,170
(207)

March 31, 2013
Bank and other
Commercial paper
C$600, 5.20% Notes, due 2014
C$600, 5.70% Notes, due 2015
C$750, 6.00% Notes due 2016
C$750, 4.35% Notes due 2020
$250, 5.25% Notes, due 2013
$750, 5.95% Notes, due 2013
$800, 5.70% Notes, due 2014
$1,000, 6.50% Notes, due 2018
$500, 4.70% Notes due 2019
$350, 3.95% Notes due 2021
$400, 5.50% Debentures, due 2035
$500, 5.85% Debentures, due 2040
Total
Current portion
Long-term portion
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Carrying amount
Fair value
Derivative
Derivative
Primary
instruments
Primary
instruments
debt
(asset)
debt
(asset)
instruments
liability
instruments
liability
8
10
612
(123)
641
(123)
601
15
658
15
751
(125)
841
(125)
748
(9)
827
(9)
250
256
750
772
797
867
991
1,243
496
575
346
380
393
468
488
632
7,231
(242)
8,170
(242)
(1,008)
6,223
(242)

December 31, 2012
Bank and other
C$600, 5.20% Notes, due 2014
C$600, 5.70% Notes, due 2015
C$750, 6.00% Notes due 2016
C$750, 4.35% Notes due 2020
$250, 5.25% Notes, due 2013
$750, 5.95% Notes, due 2013
$800, 5.70% Notes, due 2014
$1,000, 6.50% Notes, due 2018
$500, 4.70% Notes due 2019
$350, 3.95% Notes due 2021
$400, 5.50% Debentures, due 2035
$500, 5.85% Debentures, due 2040
Total
Current portion
Long-term portion
Fair value estimation

The following fair value measurement hierarchy is used for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of
financial position at fair value:
•

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and

•

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs).

The levels used to determine fair value measurements for those instruments carried at fair value in the financial
statements were as follows:
March 31, 2013
Assets
Embedded derivatives(1)
Forward exchange contracts(2)
Financial assets at fair value through earnings

-

71
28
99

-

Total
Balance
71
28
99

-

36
193
229

-

36
193
229

22
22

328

-

22
350

Level 1

Fair value hedges(3)
(4)
Cash flow hedges
Derivatives used for hedging
Available for sale investments(5)
Total assets

Level 2

Level 3

Liabilities
Embedded derivatives(1)
Forward exchange contracts(2)
Financial liabilities at fair value through earnings

-

(24)
(18)
(42)

-

(24)
(18)
(42)

Cash flow hedges(4)
Derivatives used for hedging
Total liabilities

-

(22)
(22)
(64)

-

(22)
(22)
(64)

46

December 31, 2012
Assets
Embedded derivatives(1)
Forward exchange contracts(2)
Financial assets at fair value through earnings

-

Total
Balance
29
20
49

39
219
258

-

39
219
258

20
20

307

-

20
327

Liabilities
Embedded derivatives(1)
Forward exchange contracts(2)
Financial liabilities at fair value through earnings

-

(58)
(16)
(74)

-

(58)
(16)
(74)

Cash flow hedges(4)
Derivatives used for hedging
Total liabilities

-

(15)
(15)
(89)

-

(15)
(15)
(89)

Level 1

Fair value hedges(3)
Cash flow hedges(4)
Derivatives used for hedging
Available for sale investments(5)
Total assets

-

Level 2
29
20
49

-

Level 3

(1)

Largely related to U.S. dollar pricing of vendor or customer agreements by foreign subsidiaries.

(2)

Used to manage foreign exchange risk on cash flows excluding indebtedness.

(3)

Comprised of fixed-to-floating cross-currency interest rate swaps on indebtedness.

(4)

Comprised of fixed-to-fixed cross-currency swaps on indebtedness.

(5)

Investments in entities over which the Company does not have control, joint control or significant influence.

Valuation Techniques
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
•

quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and

•

the fair value of currency and interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

Note 12: Businesses held for sale
The Company intends to sell certain businesses that are no longer fundamental to its strategy. The most significant
business classified as held for sale at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 was Corporate Services, a provider of tools
and solutions that help companies communicate with investors and media formerly in the Financial & Risk segment. In
December 2012, the Company accepted a binding offer to sell the Corporate Services business. The results of operations
from businesses held for sale are reported within Other Businesses. See note 3.
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The assets and liabilities associated with all businesses classified as held for sale in the statement of financial position are
as follows:
March 31, December 31,
2013
2012
38
3
2
6
43
35
264
250
2
8
349
302

Trade and other receivables
Computer software, net
Other identifiable intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets held for sale
Payables, accruals and provisions
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Total liabilities associated with assets held for sale

6
14
6
26

21
8
6
35

These businesses do not qualify for discontinued operations classification.

Note 13: Other non-current assets
March 31, December 31,
2013
2012
39
9
262
256

Net defined benefit plan surpluses
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies
Equity method investments:
Joint ventures
Other
Other non-current assets
Total other non-current assets

50
205
48
604

44
204
46
559

Note 14: Payables, accruals and provisions
March 31, December 31,
2013
2012
250
461
1,412
1,745
220
190
187
216
2,069
2,612

Trade payables
Accruals
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total payables, accruals and provisions

Note 15: Provisions and other non-current liabilities
March 31, December 31,
2013
2012
1,587
1,682
221
221
175
166
81
99
242
234
95
100
2,401
2,502

Net defined benefit plan obligations
Deferred compensation and employee incentives
Provisions
Unfavorable contract liability
Uncertain tax positions
Other non-current liabilities
Total provisions and other non-current liabilities

Note 16: Capital
Share repurchases
The Company may buy back shares (and subsequently cancel them) from time to time as part of its capital management
strategy. Under its normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”), up to 15 million common shares (representing less than 2% of the
total outstanding shares) may be repurchased in open market transactions on the TSX or the NYSE between May 22, 2012
and May 21, 2013.
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The Company did not repurchase any shares in the first quarter of 2013. In 2012, the Company repurchased 4,332,200
shares under the current NCIB. Decisions regarding any future repurchases will be based on market conditions, share price
and other factors including opportunities to invest capital for growth.
Dividends
Dividends on common shares are declared in U.S. dollars. Details of dividends declared per share are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
$0.33
$0.32

Dividends declared per common share

In the statement of cash flow, dividends paid on common shares are shown net of amounts reinvested in the Company’s
DRIP. Details of dividend reinvestment are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
10
9

Dividend reinvestment

Note 17: Supplemental cash flow information
Details of “Other” in the statement of cash flow are as follows:

Non-cash employee benefit charges(1)
Embedded derivatives fair value adjustments
Net losses (gains) on foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments
Other
(1)

Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
87
101
(73)
24
56
(33)
(5)
17
65
109

Includes net interest expense on pension and other post-employment benefit plans of $16 million and $15 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. See note 7.

Details of “Changes in working capital and other items” are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
(127)
118
(65)
(48)
(3)
9
(420)
(461)
78
(7)
(1)
21
54
62
(61)
(59)
(545)
(365)

Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other financial assets
Payables, accruals and provisions
Deferred revenue
Other financial liabilities
Income taxes
Other
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Note 18: Acquisitions
Acquisitions primarily comprise the purchase of businesses that are integrated into existing operations to broaden the
Company’s range of offerings to customers as well as its presence in global markets.

Acquisition activity
The number of acquisitions completed, and the related cash consideration, during the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012 are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
Number of
Cash
Number of
Cash
transactions consideration transactions consideration
5
726
8
143
1
14
1
3
2
6
730
8
159

Businesses and identifiable intangible assets acquired(1)
Contingent consideration payments
Investments in businesses
(1)

Cash consideration is net of cash acquired of $26 and $2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The following provides a brief description of certain acquisitions completed during the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012:
Date
February 2013

Company
Practical Law Company(1)

Acquiring segment
Legal

January 2012

Dr. Tax Software

Tax & Accounting

(1)

Description
A provider of practical legal know-how, current
awareness and workflow solutions to law firms
and corporate law departments
A Canadian based developer of income tax
software for accounting firms and consumers

In March 2013, the UK’s Office of Fair Trading approved this acquisition.

Purchase price allocation
Each business combination has been accounted for using the acquisition method and the results of acquired businesses
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the dates of acquisition. Purchase price allocations related to
certain acquisitions may be subject to adjustment pending completion of final valuations.
The details of net assets acquired are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2013
2012
26
2
42
3
1
1
69
6
5
1
46
17
203
51
6
329
75
(48)
(1)
(59)
(5)
(107)
(6)
(3)
(55)
(12)
(162)
(21)
167
54
585
91
752
145

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets
Computer hardware and other property, net
Computer software, net
Other identifiable intangible assets
Deferred tax
Total assets
Payables, accruals and provisions
Deferred revenue
Current liabilities
Provisions and other non-current liabilities
Deferred tax
Total liabilities
Net assets acquired
Goodwill
Total

The excess of the purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and assumed liabilities
was recorded as goodwill and reflects synergies and the value of the acquired workforce. The majority of goodwill for
acquisitions completed in 2013 and 2012 is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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Acquisition transactions were completed by acquiring all equity interests or the net assets of the acquired business. The
revenues and operating profit of acquired businesses since the date of acquisition were not material to the Company’s
results of operations.

Note 19: Contingencies
Lawsuits and legal claims
The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings, claims, audits and investigations that have arisen in the ordinary
course of business. These matters include but are not limited to intellectual property infringement claims, employment
matters and commercial matters. The outcome of all of the matters against the Company is subject to future resolution,
including the uncertainties of litigation. Based on information currently known to the Company and after consultation with
outside legal counsel, management believes that the probable ultimate resolution of any such matters, individually or in
the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company, taken as a whole.

Uncertain tax positions
The Company is subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions. There are many transactions and calculations during the
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company maintains provisions for uncertain
tax positions that it believes appropriately reflect its risk. These provisions are made using the best estimate of the amount
expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these
provisions at the end of the reporting period. It is possible that at some future date, liabilities in excess of the Company’s
provisions could result from audits by, or litigation with, relevant taxing authorities. Management believes that such
additional liabilities would not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition taken as a whole.

Note 20: Related party transactions
As of March 31, 2013, The Woodbridge Company Limited (“Woodbridge”) beneficially owned approximately 55% of the
Company’s shares.

Transactions with Woodbridge
From time to time, in the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions with Woodbridge and certain of its
affiliates. These transactions involve providing and receiving product and service offerings, are negotiated at arm’s length on
standard terms, including price, and are not significant to the Company’s results of operations or financial condition either
individually or in the aggregate.
In May 2012, as part of its efforts to expand its mutual fund data and strategic research capabilities, the Company acquired a
Canadian mutual fund database, fund fact sheet business and mutual fund and equity data feed business for
approximately C$9 million from The Globe and Mail (“The Globe”), which is majority owned by Woodbridge. The Company
paid approximately C$8 million in cash and issued a C$1 million promissory note to The Globe that will be due in May 2016.
In connection with the acquisition, the Company licensed the acquired database to The Globe over a four year term,
valued at approximately C$250,000 per year. The Globe issued four promissory notes to the Company, each for the value of
the annual license. Amounts due each year under the notes issued by The Globe will be offset against the note issued by the
Company. The board of directors’ Corporate Governance Committee approved the transaction.
In the normal course of business, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries charge a Woodbridge owned company fees for
various administrative services. The total amount charged to Woodbridge for these services was approximately $112,000
for the year ended December 31, 2012.
The Company purchases property and casualty insurance from third party insurers and retains the first $500,000 of each
and every claim under the programs via the Company’s captive insurance subsidiaries. Woodbridge is included in these
programs and pays the Company a premium commensurate with its exposures. Premiums relating to the year ended
December 31, 2012 were $40,000, which would approximate the premium charged by a third party insurer for such
coverage.
The Company maintained an agreement with Woodbridge until April 17, 2008 (the closing date of the Reuters acquisition) under
which Woodbridge agreed to indemnify up to $100 million of liabilities incurred either by the Company’s current and former
directors and officers or by the Company in providing indemnification to these individuals on substantially the same terms and
conditions as would apply under an arm’s length, commercial arrangement. The Company was required to pay Woodbridge an
annual fee of $750,000, which was less than the premium that would have been paid for commercial insurance. In 2008, the
Company replaced this agreement with a conventional insurance agreement. The Company is entitled to seek indemnification
from Woodbridge for any claims arising from events prior to April 17, 2008, so long as the claims are made before April 17, 2014.
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Transactions with associates and joint ventures
From time to time, the Company enters into transactions with its investments in associates and joint ventures. These
transactions typically involve providing or receiving services and are entered into in the normal course of business and on
an arm’s length basis.
The Company and The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”) each have a 50% interest in Omgeo, a provider of
trade management services. Omgeo pays the Company for use of a facility and technology and other services which were
valued at approximately $2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
The Company and Shin Nippon Hoki Shuppan K.K. each own 50% of Westlaw Japan K.K., a provider of legal information
and solutions to the Japanese legal market. The Company provides the joint venture with technology and other services
which were valued at approximately $200,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
In connection with the 2008 acquisition of Reuters, the Company assumed a lease agreement with 3XSQ Associates, an
entity now owned by the Company and Rudin Times Square Associates LLC that was formed to build and operate the 3
Times Square property and building in New York, New York that now serves as the Company’s corporate headquarters. The
Company follows the equity method of accounting for its investment in 3XSQ Associates. The lease provides the Company
with over 690,000 square feet of office space until 2021 and includes provisions to terminate portions early and various
renewal options. The Company’s costs under this lease arrangement for rent, taxes and other expenses were
approximately $10 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
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